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T u e s d a y , 1 7 December, 194-6 

INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL 
FOR THE FAR EAST 

Court House of the Tribunal 
Wgr Ministry Building 

Tokyo, Japan 

The Tribunal net, pursuant to adjournment, 

at 0930. 

Appearances: 

For the Tribunal,same as before with 

the exception of: HONORABLE JUSTICE D. JARANILLA, 

Member from the Republic of the Philippines, not 

sitting. 

For the Prosecution Section, same as before. 

For the Eefense Section, some as before. • 

The Accused: 

All present except O K A � A , Shumei, who is 

represented by his counsel。 

— 麵 ー 

(English to Japanese and Japanese 

to English interpretation was made by the 

Language Section, IMTFE.) 
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MARSHAL CF THH� COURT � Tliy International 

f/ilit?.ry Tribun::.l for the Fr.r E-st is now in session. 

THE P ? � S I D � � M a j o r Moore. 

LANGUAGE ARBITER (Major Moore): Mr. Presi-

dent ,>;;itli the Tribunal's permission, vi/e present the 

following language corrections: 

Exhibit 1075, rdcord page 9,918, line 20， 

delate the sentence beginning "Although"' and sub-

stitute "^ith your intention in rind, I have meant 

to proceed without interference in this matter„ 

Hanover, I cannot help but be deeply concerned when 

I consider the developnent of this rr.citter and its 

effect upon the futtire of oapan c.s x?ell as the 

Tripartite Pcct." 

Page 9,919, line 3, r.fter
 n

nOT" insert 

"in adoition." 

tine 6, delate "�talicin" end read "ambasssadors 

In Gorman^'- and Itsus"? •” 

Line 14, r^ad "belong to you." (period). 

Page 9,920, line 5, after "telograEi" insert 

"from Ott on that day." 

Line 7, delete "Italian。" 

Line 8, reed "Ambassador in Italy." 

Pago 9,921, line 3, for "and" substitute 

w
 h

 a

 1

 e

 n

 &

 5

 p
r

 a

 1
1
 

"but." 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Line 4, delete from "is supposed" to line 6, 

"considerable extent" and read "it could be considered 

that Japan has already held extensive discussions with 

America on this matter 

Line 8, after "sources" insert "to date,
11 

Line 19, delete "you" to the end of � h e 

sentence
5
 and read "he has changed his opinion." 

Lj.ne 23, delete "you" to "obliged" snd 

read "If, persuaded by such a person, it should become 

necessary to concTude." 

Page 9,922, line 1 , d e l e t e from "meaningless" 

to the end of the sentrjnce and substitute " ineffective 

even though any kind of pretext may be found from the 

legal standpoint 

Line 12, delete quotation marks. 

Line 2 1 , d e l a t e
 n

t o Gurniany." 

Page 9
5
923 , l i n e 12, delete "repeated the 

same thing in" and substitute "cited the content of." 

Page 9,924, line 10, delete from "wished" to 

the end of the sentence and substitute
 11

 would draft 

a telegraphic instruction to Ott and would consult 

Italy accordingly." 

Page 9,926, line 12, after "him" insert 

"repeatedly." 

Page 9,929, line 23， before "in a few" insert 
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11

 And at this tine v/lien." 

Line 24, delete "and if" to "Japan should" 

and substitute "it is c. question whether it is really 

reasonable for Jap an to." 

Paga 9,930, line 1 , d e l e t e "it is" to the 

end of the sentence. • 

Line 2, delete from "Heedless to "estranging" 

and substitute "Particularly so when it is not clear 

whether or not tho k： erican proposal is merely a 

temporary schome to tstr^nge 

Line 10, delete "ljave" to "should Japan" 

anc! substitute " thus le,?.ve a root of evil in the 

future should she." 

Lin^ 13, for "rmcom" substitute "will," 

Line 14, dele to "those �� 

Lin^ 17, ？-fter "arac" insert "and by 

avoiding nominal p�rticination in the war 

Line 19, delute "although" to the end of the 

sentencje 

Line 23, after ''regions" insert " � h i c h 

would be included in the Greater East Asia." 

Page 9,931, line 1 1 , f o r "embody" substitute 

”at least materialize 

THE PRESIDENT: Thr.nk you, Major. 

Mr. Justice Mansfield. I \/oTild like for you 
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to read a little slower, Mr. Justice Mansfield. 

m . JUSTICE MANSFISLD: Yes, sir. 

Prosecution document numbered 5365, the 

sworn statement of R . B . Wilson, is now offered for 

identification. 

C L � K OF THE COUBT: Prosecution doctunent 

� � o . 5365 will be given exhibit No. 1555 for identi-

ficp.tion only. 

* (Who roup on, th、 docunent above re-

ferred. to xias narked prosecution's exhibit 

‘No. 1555 for identification only.) 

Lfl。JUSTICE O.NSFIELDs AncI the excerpts 

marked, tendered in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT s Admitted on the usual terras. 

CLERK OF THE COURT� And the excerpt there-

from, bearing the same document ntun"ber, will receive 

exhibit No. 1555-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1555-A and received in evidence.) 

m , JUSTICE MNSFIiilLD: This docum-dnt relates 

the maltreatment of prisoners of wcr and internees at 

Rangoon Central Gaol. lien ware beaten savagely 2nd 

others were frequent deaths from malnutrition and 

25 lack of n e d i c s� facilities• 
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At Tavoy Internrient Cnmp men and women were 

boaten, tortured, put in solitary confinement and 

starved, and the internees were forced to eat dogs, 

rats and snakes to keep alive. 

Prosecution document numbGrod 5367， the 

sv;om statement of Tan Ha in Eng, being produced for 

identification,--

CLERK OF THE COURT; Prosecution's document 

No. 5367 will be given exhibit No. 1556 for identi-

fication only. 

(•"
r

hureupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

No. 1556 for identification only.) 

MR. JUSTICE FANSFIELD; — and the marked 

excerpts offered in evidence,--

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on tho usual terms. 

CLERK OF HIS COURT: And the marked excerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same cl ocunent number, will re-

ceive ex. ibit No. 1556-A. 

(whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was narked prosecution's exhibit 

Ko. 1556-A and received in evidence.) 

H JUSTICE MANSFIELDs — describes the 

execution of five Chinese near Prone. 

The v/itness went to the place of execution 
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as an interpreter and saw c. nvun.ber of Japanese offi-

cers there present. There was a table covered with 

a white cloth, on which were flowers, one or two 

bottles of sake and some glasses. 

The five prisoners were made to sit with 

their legs in the graves which were already dug. 

Thoy v;ere then shot "by Japanese soldiers. 

Prosecution document nuntered 5368, the 

sworn statcnen� of J. H . Williams, produced for 

identification,一一 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

N o . 5368 will be given exhibit No, 1557 for identi-

fication only. 

hereupon, the docur-ent above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

Wo. 1557 for identification only.) 

MR。 JUSTICE MANSFIELDj — and the excerpts 

nerkeel therein are new offered in evidence, 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF TKE COURT: And the marked excerpts 

therefrom, "bearing the same document nmiber, will 

receive exhibit No. 1557-A. 

(Y^hereupon, the document c.bove re-

ferred to was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

No. 1557-A and-received in evidence.) 
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KP。JUSTICE iJlNSFIELD; This docunent 

describes the bee ting of Prisoners of "ar at Mayniyo 

and the inhunanit:/ of a Japanese medical officer who 

kicked a nan to death who, suffering from a stomach 

complaint, was unable to control his notion. 

Prosecution docuEient rmmbered 5369, t he sworn 

statement of Mrs.. M . M . Williams, is now offered for 

identificntion。 

CLER" OF K S COURT; Prosecution's document 

No. 5369 vill receive exhibit No. 1558 for identifica-

tion only. 

(Whereupon, the dociment above ro-

ferrec"! to was nartec
1

： prosecution
1

 s exhibit 

No. 1558 for identification only.) 

I.IR. JUSTICE � S F I E L D ; And the narked 

excerpts produced in evidence. 

TII£� PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: And the narlied excerpts 

therefrom
5
 bearing the sane d o c m e n t nmiber, will 

receive exhibit No. 1558-A. 

(thereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was nc�rlcecl prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1558-A and receivocl in evidence.) 

m . JUSTICE MANSFIELDs The document confirms 

the conditions in Maynyo as set out in the procecling 
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statenent numbered 5368. 

In Tavoy women were ordered to stand in the 

sun for seven, eight and ten hours. In April, 194-5, 

a 'lady internee returned to the house in which she 

lived at 0330 hours with her clothes in shreds and 

said that a Japanese had attempted to rcpo her. 

Another woman inforned the witness ttet on several 

occasions the sane Japanese had raped her. 



WILLIAMS DIRECT 

12,996 

1 
J O H N M U N S L 0 W W I L L I A M S ， cclled cs a 

2 
witness on behr.lf of the prosecution, hnving "been 

3 
duly sworn, testified as follows; 

4 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

5 
BY MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: 

6 Q Whet is your full nr.me? 

7 A John Munslow Williams. 

8 Q And your rrnk? 

9 A エ sm r lieutenant colonel. 

10 Q And on the 9th of March 1942 v/here were you? 

11 A I wr.s in Jrvr.. 

12 Q And whrt position did you hold there? 

13 A I wrs coamrndinp; the 2/2 A u s t m l i a n Pioneer 

14 Bcttr.lion. 

15 Q On thrt dnte were you captured by the Jspcnese? 

16 A Yes. 

17 Q And in whnt camp were you confined there? 

18 A In Bicycle Camp. 

19 Q B e t w e e n what dates? 

20 A B e t w e e n April rnd O c t o b e r , 1 9 4 2 . 

21 
Q Would you describe the conditions at this 

22 
cr.rap while you were there. 

23 I A The conditions were r&ssonr.ble. The huts 

24 
were good but overcrowded. The- food wr.s not very good ； 

25 
it wns not sufficient for working m e n . The Japanese 
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10 

11 

12 

rere very crucl in thr.t prrticulrr camp rnd used every 

c:hance they could to bcr.t us with p.11 sorts of imple-

ments. We hrd to srlute every Japanese guard irres-

pective of rrnk, snd rt one neriod � witnessed Lieuten-

ant Colonel Blr.ck being beaten up because he did not 

�alute c jEpr.nese promptly. 

THE PRESIDENT: What did the berting consist of? 

THE WITNESS: Sometimes with rifle butts; some-

9
^imes v/ith bamboo rods, or with anything that wes handy 

4t the time. 

THE PRESIDENT: Whst wss done to Blrck? 

THE WITNESS: He was sitting on his bed at 

13 the time the Jppr.nese csme cround the corner, cnd be— 

14 pc.Tise he did not stand up quickly he was beeten with 

ists r.nd rifle butts and kicked. 

16 | Q On the 25th of Mcy 194-2 whr.t happened to you? 

17 A I wrs trken cwry from Bicycle Camp to a jail 
[ 

is |_n Brtavie where � w:s kept for rbout thirty dcys. 

19during thr.t time I v/rs trken to e Kempeit£?i hecdqucrters 
2 0

 � he re I vif. S questioned. 'Th^y questioned and tortured 
2 1

 me for about thirty days. The first five days they 

jiid not give me r.ny food but plr.ced food in front of 

e while they were questioning me, r.nd srid if � spoke 

hey would give me thp.t food. They tied mc to a chair 

hnd threw the chair around the room. They beat me dr.ily • 

1 5 

22 

2 3 

24 

2 5 

r 
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with their hands end with bemboo rods. 

Q What other tortures did they inflict upon you? 

A They burned my feet with cigarette butts, and 

ct the end of the period took me outside, blindfolded 

me, and soid if I did not snerk they would shoot me. 

Q Whrt w£,s the. size of the cell in which you 

were confined? 

A The cell in which I sr>ent the nights while 

kept _ there wes 12 feet by with g concrete slab, 

� n d seven natives end myself lived in there most of 

the period, 

Q Did you see nny other officer being tortured 

there? 

A Cnptnin Hmdr.syde of my own battalion was 

brdly knockcd nbout. He hed his fingers turned to the 

bone by having c pencil plr.ced between each finger 

end moved up end down until the friction burned, through 

to the bone. His lungs were olso filled with woter. 

Q Well, in October 1942 did you lecve Jcvei? 

A Yes. With 1500 t)risoners v;e were trken from. 

Bc.tr.via to Singapore by r； ship of rbout four thousand 

tons. 

Q How long did thrt voyrge lcist? 

A About five drys. 

Q Whnt were the conditions of the Eccomraodction 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

on thct ship? 
* 

A T'e were nlrced in the hold of the ship, end 

in our own hold about four tanks were in the seme hold. 

We could not lie down together in the hold, end we were 

only w l o w e d up e. few minutes ec.ch day. We were given 

three sm;、ll bowls of rice a day, pnd no wr.ter whatever. 

The hygiene w?.s very be d rs most of our men ？/ere suf-

fering from dysentery, end only a few smr.ll latrines 

were provided on the decks. One man died on the voy-

age. 

Q Were the sick given any medical attention on 

that vcyage? 

A None vrhrtever. 

Q W e l l , f r o m Singapore where did you go? 

A From Singapore we boarded a smaller ship still 

rnd were t(':ken to Rrngoon. 

Q Whr.t were the conditions of thr.t voyage? 

A The conditions were even worse then the 

previa us ship. The spr.ee allotted was smaller rnd the 

food worse. We were ten days on the ship altogether, 

ana the biggest majority of the men suffered from 
� 

dysentery before we lr.nded» ‘ 

Q "What about food? 1'Iere you able to supplement 

your rr.tions on thrt ship? 
A Yes. We received some Red Cross issues from 
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Singapore, r.nd thet supplemented our rrtions consid-

erably. 

Q From Rcngoon where did you go? 

A From Rangoon we took r smeller ship still to 

Monlmein, rnd from there to Thanbuyezr't, c. "br.se ccmp 

on the Burmr'-
rr

hr.ilr-nd Rr.ilv/cy Line. From the bese 

crmp we moved in thirty-five kilometers into the Jungle, 

rnd thf.t becr.me our working csmp. 

Q Were you the senior officer rt that working 

camp? 

A I wrs the senior officer, end it wrs known 

from then on �.s "Williams' Force." 

Q Hov; mr.ny men were in that force when it 

str.rted? 

A Eight hundred end eighty-four. 

Q From October 1942 onwerd where were you mostly 

located? , 

A From October 1942 until April 194*3 we were 

in the ssme cr.mp, thirty-five kilometer cr.mp. From 

April 1943 we becrme the mobile crmp r.nd worked laying 

the lines right through to the border. 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q And were you at many working camps on the 

railway during that period? 

A Yes. As we laid the line so we moved from 

camp to C3ro.p throughout Burma. 

Q Would you describe, generally, the conditions 

of the working camps during th^t period? 

A For the first five months we worked on the 

embankment of the line, and for this period the 

work was reasonable and the .food not very good. As 

we went on, the meals became worse and the conditions 

worse. The food consisted mostly of rice, supplemented 

with a little meat at times, and rr.ostly jungle 

leaves and any green grass we could cut. I h a � e seen 

men eating Qogs, cats anc rats and even "t he entrails 

of pigs thrown out bv the Japanese, 

Q Was the food at any time adequate? 

A No. 

Q "/ere any beasts killed and distributed? 

A Sometimes we had to eat diseased cows and 

"/hen a good cow came to the camp we usually halved it
7 

the Japanese taking the rear haIf, we taking the front 

half. Our strength was 884； theirs were approximately 

thirty. 

Q Lid you observe at any tirae the food that 

the Japanese were able to supply for themselves? 

D
 u

 d

 a

 &

 J
d

 e

 r
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A Yes. The food caine to � h e camp in boxes. 

They took what they wanted and we got what was left. 

Q �/hat have you to say about the accommodation 

during that period? 

A In moving from camp to camp, our camps were 

constructed for us, previously occupied usually by-

natives 5 sometines by errant people. The huts were 

made of bamboo and atap, and the camDs normally cons-

tructeo in low-lying areas. During the wet season it 

was normally to have over six inches of mud over the 

whole camp, inside ana outside the huts. In one camp 

we spent five months in a very crowded area. 

Twenty-five officers and twenty-three other rank 

occupied an area approximately 13 by 9. For the first 

three weeks there was no roof to the building at all. 

I complained to the Japanese comiriander ^bout the 

accommodation, and he said they � e r e crowded at the 

same tine. They had three Japanese soldiers to the same 

area. 

Ĉ  What was the hygiene in most of the c^mps? 

A The hygiene was very bad. The areas were 

roped in» �/e. coulo only dig latrines inside the camp 

area. As the camp were covered with water normally, 

it was very hard to dig latrines o , 

Q �"hat 'vere the conditions like between Hay and 



WILLI A1IS DェRECT 

13,003 

October 1943? 

A From M a y to October we went through our worst 

period. It was raining most of the tine and we were 

moving from camp to cair!p at frequent intervals. 

Q Were the men able to keep dry? 

A The men had very little clothing and were 

continually wet. The working hours were very long, 

the men leaving sometimes five and six in the morning, 

returning approxirately midnight or later. In many 

cases the men v;ere kept out for thirty-six hours 

without a break or rest. 

Q And ho'/i/ many meals would be served during 

that thirty-six hours? 

A We could normally only get then three nesls out, 

Q What was the condition of the men during this 

time? 

A Prom Ilav till OctoV-er they had to work the 

whole period without a rest day. Due to several 

numerous diseases, their condition beoame such th^t 

they coulG hardly work even in the periods allotted 

to them. I have seen some men taken out to work in 

stretchers, and quite 9 number assisted to work. 

Q Were the deaths frequent during that time? 

A In thnt period, April till October, 200 nen 

in my own for^e died. 
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Q Do you know of any cases where men 一一 where 

the deaths were caused by exhaustion as �.'ell as disease? 

A Yes. On many an occasion, the men yjere too 

tired to -;;ork. Each morning would find s e v e n 1 men, 

sometimes five men, cead in their huts. 

� What was the method of speeding up the wopk 

used by the Japonese? 

A They taught us to lay the lines s.nci the 

sleepers with iron rods and b^raboos on our b-ncks. 

They belted the men hourly ?'ith bamboos, rifle butts, 

or kicked them, I hive seen them use five—pound haraner 

and anything they could pick up. One man hsd his jaw 

broken with a rifle butt because he bent a spike whilst 

driving it in the m i l . 

Q W e l l , v o u ever h^ve any issue of blankets? 

A Yes, we had one issue of blankets, approxi-

mately 260 odd, to our f<?.rce
0
 The ir:�.jority of the men 

were without blankets. And At one occasion we were 

issued with rice sacks to keep the men warm. The issue 

v«s only ter?TDor^r7c They wanted the rice sacks l^ter 

on to hold ri.13。 
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Q In Maj' 194-3 wftere were you sent? 

A In May 194-3 we were sent to a camp called 

cO Kilometer camp. In this particular camp I, 

with several other?, reached the camp a little 

earlier tbar the remainder, and � noticed a number 

of ratives l̂ eir.g carried a?;ay from the cairp. We 

discovered later that they had died from cholera, 

"but we did not know at the tire. It had previously 

been a native camp and was covered in filth. The 

whole of the area were covered with rice 一一 all 

rice ard food thrcv/r; ever the grcurd. The camp 

was that dirtv that I ordered the men to >-urn the 

>aroboo sleeriinp- slats to tear down the sides of 

the huts and burn those, and also to cut a
v

out half 

an inch of soil off the top of the camp. 

Q Did you make any protest a � o u t being put in 

this camp? 

A Y e s , � protested as soon as I seen the camp 

ard prctented. p.gain when the iraip force marchea 

ir:to the car:p . 

Q To whom, did you protest? 

A To the camp comrrander at the time, Sergeant 

SHIMOJO。 

� What happened later on, in ll&j
5
 after the 

force got ir.tc this cairr? 
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A lie found, in the first instance, one man 

came froci worV
-

 about twelve o' clock and were dead 

in the afternoon, t-everal other men d̂ " ed just as 

quickl-"- and our doctors car^e to the conclusion that 

i.t was cholera that was killing the men. 

Q About bow many h a � died bv December
 1

43? 

A From cholera and other diseases about -- over 

two hundred. 

。 D i d vou at anv ti^e have anv medical sup-

plies? 

A Each month we would indent for nedical sup-

pi? es and nor^allv soi^e redical supplies would 

arrive each nonth. They would consist of a few 

bandages and a few tablets
 7
 sometimes marked with 

Japanese that we d"
1

'd not know what the tablets were 

for. 

Our method of dressing an ulcer would be 

to scrape the wound around with the sharp edge of 

a spoon, or put blowflies in to eat away the dead 

flesh. As each man had his ulcer dressed he had to 

be held down on the bed by four or five other men. 

。 W a s there at anv tine a sufficient amount 

of drugs and medicine for the prisoners? 

A N o . 

Q YTnat happened to most of the drugs that 
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came to the camp? 

A The Japanese would normally fill up their 

own supply of drugs, replenish their supply, and we 

got what was left. 

0 Whafe was the health of your men when they 

were first captured? 

A I commanded a pioneer battalion and in 

t-vria our was to construct roads mostlv on 

frozen ground, ve^v hard work. They were in good 

physical condition and that was their normal work. 

Thev were especially selected for bard manual work. 

Q And to what do you attribute tbe losses of 

vour force? 

THE P R E M D E N T : Mr. Levin. 

I'"R. LEVIN: We object to that as asking 

for a conclusion of tbe witness. He has already 

described what: has occurred. 

MR. JUSTICE M N b F I E L D : I won't press the 

question. 

Q Now, at 80 Kilometer camp, would you just 

describe shortlv what vou saw t b e r e� 

A "/e reached the 80 Eilo camp in the course 

of our ,1ob in constructing the line and hearc! that 

there were trisoners in another portion of the 

ca^p. We visited this camp and found it to be a 
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makeshift hospital from Number Five Group Prisoner 

of War Thailand .Administration. 

The men were left in this hospital because 

they were sick and could not work ^or the Japanese. 

They were told that as thev were s i c � and could 

not help the Japanese thev would not be given food. 

'Inen we arrived there thev only had sufficient ^or 

one r^eal of n' Up t
1

'11 then thev had been living 

on a p p r o x i m t e l v one s^all meal a dav. They had 

one doctor, no orderlies and no fit men to admin
1

' ster 

the camp.
 ,?

.Tien we arrived there about five men were 

dvinf each day. 

c. Hcnv nanv were in this camp, approximately? 

A Approximately two hundred. 

� ‘ "fell,did the party of prisoners do any-

thing to alleviate the food position there? 

A Y e s , during the night we carried down 

some of our ri ce and gave � t to them. t-oi?e of our 

men at night tire killed one or two cows belonging 

to the J a m n e s e local staff, and whilst it was 

still dark that treat and food was distributed to 

the men and cooked In their own kitchen. 

Q '
7

ere vou at any time inspected by any 

senior Japanese officers? 

A t-'enicr Japanese officers came to the camp, 
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but on no occasion did I see one po through the 

h � t s or question anv of the prisoners. 

o Do you know .the names of anv of these senior 

Japanese officers? 

A N o. 
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Q Do you know their ranks? 

A I think one was a full colonel and, if I 

remember correctly, two generals. It was very dif-

ficult to see them and each time we questioned as to 

who a man was the Japanese camp commander said he was 

a very high official. 

Q At what camps did you see these high Jap-

anese officers? 

A Once at 35 kilo camp, once at 40 kilo camp 

and once at 135 kilo camp. 

Q Lid you at any time nake any protests to the 

Japanese officers about the conditions under which 

your men were working? 

A Yes. I complained at very regular intervals 

about the conditions, but they)said they had their 

orders to build the railway line and couldn't assist 

•us in any way. 

Q To whom did you make your protests? 

A To the camp commanders and on some occasions 

to the commander of the I、:o. 3 group
 5
 Thai Prisoner of 

War Camp. 

Q Vvho was the corimancler of l、o. 3 group? 

A Lieutenant Colonel Y. NAGATOMO. 

Q When did you leave the area v/here the railway 

was being built? 
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A Will you repeat that, please? 

Q viQien did you leave the area where the 

railway was being built? 

a My force laft -- the bulk of my force left in 

the end of January. At least, the end of December 

and early January. 

Q '43 or '44? 

A 1 9 4 3 . エ returned with thirty-four left of 

my own force to 105 kilo camp to work on the main-

tenance of the line until May, '44. 

Q Were Lke condition? Jurin^ that time any 

improvement on the previous conditions? 

A No. The food in that particular camp was 

w o r s e . It vas just nlain rice and paddy m e l o n s . 

Q And was the railway line at that time being 

used by- the Japanese? 

A Yes. In that camp we were cuttin� wood to 

fuel the engines to bring the troops up past our camp. 

Q When did you finally leave tlie railway area? 

A In May, 1944, we left the jungle area to a 

place called Kamburi in Thailand. 

Q And after Kamburi where did you go after 

that? 

A We remained in Kamburi until early August, 

'4-5 and then we were being transferred from the 
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Kamburi Camp to a main camp about three hundred 

miles away in Thailand. 

M R . LEVIN: There will be no cross-

examination, M r . President. 

JxK. JUSTICE LIAI^SFIELD: May the witness 

be excused, if the Tribunal please? 

THE PKESILSNT: Yes. You are at liberty 

on the usual terms. 

(Whereupon, the witness was 

excused.) 

iiii. JUSTICE MAKSFIELD: We call, if the 

Tribunal please, Major John Kevin LLoyd.. 
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J O H N K E V I N L L O Y D , Major, A.I.F., 

called as a witness on behalf of the pro-

secution, being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATIOK 

BY Kh. JUSTICE � S F I E L D : 

Q What is your full name and rank? 

A I:y full name is John Kevin Lloyd, a major 

in the Australian military forces。 

Q Your residence? 

A i live in Melbourne, Australia. 

Q When were you captured by the Japanese? 

A I was captured at the fall of Singapore in 

February, 1942. 

Q What was your rank at that time? 

A I was a major then. 

Q Tn May, 1942, were 3^0u sent anywhere? 

A In liay, 194-2, I went with a party of three 

thousand Australians by ship to B u r m a 。 � traveled on 

a ship with a thouscnd other Australians under ap-

pall/ ag conditions. 

Q Viiliat was the name of the ship? 

A The Celebes Maru。 

Q And how were you accomodated in that ship? 

a. In the rear hold where I was there were six 
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hundred and forty of us. We hsd no-ventilation ex-

cepting the opening in the deck hi^h up above us. 

The man were not allowed up on the deck excepting 

for short intervals, and as a result the heat down 

below for the ten days we were on the ship was ter-

rific . T h e men could hardly move and the floors were 

wet for hours every day with the sweat that fell off 

the bodies of every man in the hold. 

Q Food -- what about food? 

A A small quantity of food was given to us 

three times a day. 

Q Was there any sickness during that voyage? 

A Towards the ':nd of the voyage the skin 

diseases be.an to spread and dysentery also, 

Q Were you allowed on deck? 

A No. The only time the men were allowed on 

deck was to go to the latrine and to wash their 

dixies after a meal. 

Q And you arrived in Liergui when? 

A The 24th of May, 1942, fifteen hundred of 

us disembarked at Mergui. 

Q And for how long did you remain there? 

A Three months. 

Q Under what conditions? 

A For the first month s hundred and fifty of 
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us were housed in a school v/hich had been built for 

six or seven hundred school children. �e.ch man was 

allowed, a maximum of about four rnd a half square 

feet in which to sleep snd to keep all his baggage. 

THE PhESIDEKTs We will recess now for 

fifteen minutes. 

(Whereupon, at 1045, a recess 

was taken until 1100, after which the pro-

ceedings were resumed as follows): 
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MARSHAL OF THE COUET; The Internaticnal 

Military Tribunal for the Far East is row resumed. 

THE PRESIDENT Mr. Justice Mansfield. 

BY MIL JUSTICE H M ; F I E L D (Continued): 

Q Wi]] you describe the food at Mergui Camp? 

A The focd consisted of about four hundred 

gT-ars of rice r>er nar per dav with, a verv sTrail 

quantity of vegetable. After a while, a little 

meat 7�as brought irto the camp. It would usually 

• consist of about fifteen pounds of meat and bone 

brought in for one day for fifteen hurdred men. 

The r̂ eii were always very hur^gry. They worked on 

a military aerodrome amendst a "�ot of Asiatic laborers. 

The natives had been forbidden to sell or give us 

food o.f any descriiDtior; and � was cften called upon 

tc intervene on behalf of hungry prisoners who had 

accented focd from natives alongside of whorr they were 

working. 

Q What were the methods used to urge the in en 

on to work? 

A The usual methods which we came to know so 

well: beatings, corporal punishment of all descriptions 

Q Was there sickness in that camp? 

A Yes. Our worse sickness was dysentery which 
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spread very rapialy
e
 We were given several wooden 
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bamboo huts within v.'hich to house our sick alongside 

the Civil Hospital. The huts were just empt” huts 

and men lay on the bare hoards,or on fice bags, or 

on ground sheets if they happened to possess one. 

Most men had ore only one set of clothing, and 

as that became soiled
5
 so they would have to 1.1 e 

naked or the bed or rrat. We had ro medicines what-

soever to treat dysentery and very few medicines to 

treat an:, other form of sickness. As a resul t, within 

two months or so there were dozens of men who were 

just living skeletons and about twenty d i e d . 

Q Were_ there any executions there? 

A Yes. A fev? days after "we arrived, two of 

my raer： attempted to escape: Privates Bell and Daveys. 

They were caught^ tried and executed a few dajrs later. 

Another mar, Private Sbuherth, was found outside the 

token fence and he was executed mithout. ro.tification 

to us ir any way of any trial. 

Q On the twelfth of August did you leave Mergui? 

A We went from Mergui on,the twelfth of August 

further north u~o the coast in a small ship known as 

the Tatu Mara, six hundred in my party. This was 

even rore crowded than before. Only a feiv men could 

sit down at a t i m e� but, fortunately, it took
；
only 

two days. 
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Q Was the heat bad? 

A Yes. The heat ir the bottcrr丨 of the hold of 

the ship, where there was no ventilation, in the 

troriics, I estimate the heat in the vicinity of 

one hundred and twenty, one hurdred and thirty degrees 

for about sever hours a day. 

Q When 3^0u reached Tavoy, would � o u describe 

the conditions there? 

A The men were put to wo'rk on a military 

aerodrome working six davs a week for about ten 

hours each day whether it rained or not. On one 

occa?icr I remember the men -worked for eleven days, 

eleven corsecutive days ir.i the rain � i t h no more 

than cne hour's break in the weather. The officers 

and men were ofter. beaten by- Jap an ere to be made to 

worl' harder or for some imagined cr rrinor o f f e r s e . 

It was rot urcommon for a man to be krocked over and 

kicked or to be hit with a shovel or pick handle. 

Q Were any of --our men tortured at arv time? 

A Yes. Several rr-en were taken a?'ay by the 

Kempeitai over a period of three or four days and 

tortured in various ways in the belief that these 

ir.ein had stolen coffee and soap from a store. The 

most pairful method used was to rake a mar kneel and 

put a piece of wood in behind his krees; and ther he 
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was hit by the interrogator with a stick or T^ushed 

back on his haunches. At the same ti^e some hundreds 

of us were made to stand for hours ir the sun ir an 

attempt to make us confess to the thefts. 

Q With what were these men beaten at the time 

they were being tortured? 

A Barboo sticks mostly. 

Q Well, then, in December 19
4

-2, did vcu move 

from Tavoy? 

A Y e s , � l e f t Tavoy in December; >vut before 

leavirg I v;as told by Brigadier Varley of the execution 

of eight Australians at Tavoy. Before I arrived 

there, these eight men had attempted to escape, were 

caught ar.d shot dead in the presence of Brigadier 

Varley ard a chaplain. Brigadier Varley, the senior 

prisoner of war officer there vho is rov; dead, he 

described the thing in detail to me and showed rne 

their graves. We rroved overland from Tavoy to 

Thanbuyzayat, the base camp of the railway line, and 

en route for two days all men had to ca^ry their 

baggage along a railway lire about fifty kilometers. 

By then a lot of men had malaria and few iren had any 

footwear J eft. As a result, sick men and ipen with 

blistered and sore feet straggling along at the rear 

of the column were urged on b
v

 blows froir -一 fist blows 
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and strikirg with rifle butts to ercourage their to 

keep m with the rest. We arrivc-d at Thanbuyzayat 

towards the end of December 1942. 

Q From then on where were you? 

A From then until January 1942 I worked in 

the 26， 75 and 105-kilo camps with a short break 

back at the base cairp at Thanbuyzayat. 

Q Did you go out with the working parties at 

any time? 

A Yes. I went out frequently with working 

parties throughout the year. 

Q And what was the condition of the work and 

the living*^ 

A The mair. work done were the iriaking of the 

excavations of the cuttings and the 'building of em-

bankments . T h e tools provided were picks and shovels, 

small baskets and a few wheelbarrows； and with these, 

enor-mous cuttings and -- or deep cuttings and enorirous 

eirbankments were built by prisoners of war and Asiatic 

laborers, At first each roan was expected to excavatc 

one cubic, meter of earth per day. This was gradually 

increased to 2.4 cubic rri.ete.rs, ard "3cmetirrt,.s for a 

few weeks on end, there was no liirit to the amount 

of soil Y'.'hich the iren were expected to excavate. Ono 

pericci i rerember of about three weeks the men worked 
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fron
1

 daylight to ridnight or afterwards aided by 

the light of bamboo fires; and wou]d have to go out 

to work agair in daylight next morning. 

Another type of work was the manning of 

ropes for the pulling of rile drivers. This would 

often necessitate fifty or sixty men standing in 

very awkv.'ard positions such as on steep slopes or 

in water, in and out all day, water up to their knees, 

At other times men broke stones with sledge hammers. 

This was dangerous work, made so by flying pieces of 

rock which of.ter； cut pen about the legs or body and 

n e a r l v always "resulting in the cowr-'encerent cf the-

terrible jungle ulcers. At other times, with few 

blunt tools, men had to fell large trees, or smaller 

t3̂ t)e of tree, for the corduroyirg of the road which 

rar alongside the railway line. Ca-【.'r”ing these light 

trees for long distances through the .jungle and 

placing therr) into position or? the road often led to 

accidents from slipping and from standirg on sharp 

pieces of rock or bamboo stakes. The safety of the 

prisoners was rarely considered„ 

I have seen several men buried or injured 

by fallin? earth when making 一 一 ?'her working in the 

cuttirgs. On another occasion ir the wet season, 

and for a period cf about two weeks, parties of five 
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or six hurdred men would have to carry food from an 

adjacent dump.. This meant a walk of ter kiloireters 

and carrying back a load of about thirty nounds 

of rice or the return �journey without footwear, 

without clothing, and in the rain. 
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Q Did you go on any of those parties yourself? 

A Yes, I weat out in command of the food carry— 

ing parties for the first week each day and I was 

completely exhausted at the end of that first week. 

Q What was the physical conrlltioE of these 

men who were required to do all this work you have 

described? 

A Every man was suffering from malnutrition 

diseases in sorae shape or form, pellagra, "beri—beri, 

general debility, blindness. I myself bad a -sore -- \ 

mouth and tongue for a whole year and found it --

About 98 percent of the men had malaria, About 4C 

percent in the camp I am describing suffered from these 

terrible jungle ulcers. There were dozens of our 

men in the camp at the one time with their legs 一-. 

the flesh of the legs 一- eaten away from the knee 

dcwn to the foot.by these u l c e r s . 

Q. Were the very sick men ever forced to work? 

A From the beginning of the year the Japanese 

brought pressure to bear to send out sick men to work. 

In March 194-3, they began to parade all sick men 

in the camps in the morning. A batch of guards would 

move along the lines of sick men and select those 

whom they thought should go out to work. As a result 

men whose complaints were not very noticeable on the 
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surface, such as malaria, dysentery, blindness -- they 

were frequently sent to work. 

Q What was the fate .of these men �
1

vhen they went 

to work? 

A
 r

Vell,they moved out in the early morning 

and returned about darkness at nighttime, sometimes 

later. If they became ill on the job very often 

they were not allowed to return to the camp until 

they were helped back that night by their friends. 

Corporal punishments bv both the railway engineers 

ana the guards were very frequent and again we had the 

usual bashings with pick-handles, shovels, kickings and 

so on. 

Q
 ir,7

hat was the general condition with regard 

to food supplies? 

A The rice ration generally was about ^ to 6 

hundred prams per man per day for those who did rail-

way work, tick ^en were given just half of that. 

Towards the end of the year when the heavy work on. 

the railway was finished the ration was considerably 

reduced because they said we no longer required so much 

food. In addition to the rice we had small quantities ‘ 

of‘vegetables at times. There were months on end 

in our worst camp when we had with the rice chili or 

pepper water with, perhaps, some boiled radish roots 
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or sone boiled waterneIon. At ti…es sone cattle 

wgto brought into the camps and killed for neat, 

but sane tines we would go T?or a
 1

� eek or nore without 

anj? neat at all. 

CJ How did the Japanese guards fare in the 

general canps? 

A The Japanese invariably picked over -che best 

of the rations for thenselves. They always had nore 

than tshey could eat and usually quite a good variety 

of fo9d. If one beast ras killed, for instance, 

they, for their fifty guards, -'/ould take half and 

v,'e, the prisoners nuriberirg 2 5 0 0 ,
 T

¥OUld take the other 

half
?
 I never saw any Japanese guards suffering from any 

malnutrition diseases. Rather was it noticeable that 

they seemed to thrive on their diet as xie starved. 

0 The accommodation in these canps, what did 

that consist oi"?
 v 

A Accommodation always greatly overcrowded. In 

tha' sano space as they themselves vov.ld. put three of 

their nen v;e would have 12 or even 16. The huts 

invariably leaked and It was inpossible to find dry 

spaces for many of t.ho men. The overcrowding ”as so 

groat in sone places that � have seen at nighttime the 

hut comnence to fall over. The hut mould, hb ̂ e to "be 

vacated, instantly and propped up nith tree trunks. 
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Q Were there any epidemics caused by being 

housed in filthy huts? 

A Several times we were forced to take over 

huts which had been occupied by Asiatic laborers = At 

other times we lived alongside them in radjacent huts 

and many of them did not seem to understand elementary 

principles of hygiene* I think the consequent myriads 

of flies that carried diseases such as dysentery and 

cholera were --



1 3 , 0 2 7 

LLOYD DIRECT 

Q Now, in April, 194-3, did the camp commandant 

parade the men at the camp? 

A Yes, the Japanese made it quite clear to 

us that v,e were of no consequence, that the railway 

line had to be built irrespective of any suffering 

or deaths. I remember the camp commander calling us 

together in April and later and telling us so through 

an interpreter. 

Q . �ere any protests made about the conditions 

under which the prisoners were working? 

A Protests were frequently made almost daily 

both to our own camp commander and to Colonel 

NAGATOMO, the Chief of the Prisoner of '7ar Bureau 

in Burma. It was exceptional, indeed, to get our 

complaints rectified in any shape or form. 

Q Were requests at any time made to provide 

ambulances? 

A At first our sick men were sent to the 

Thanbuyzayat base camp and ambulances were asked for 

to carry them there. I.To truck fitted up as an am-

bulance was ever provided and as a result men, 

dying men traveling on the floor o^ a motor truck, 

would often die en route or soon after reaching the 

base camp. In- J u n e , 1 9 4 3 , another hospital--

so-called hospital camp -- was established at the 
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5 5 kilo peg. ''7e '^ere allowed to evacuate 800 of 

our heaviest sick men to that camp, a distance of 

fifty kilos. More than fifty percent of the men 

w o u l d be on stretchers or w a l k i n g w i t h the aid of 

crutches. These men would spend -- these men took 

two days to reacb the camp traveling sixteen or 

twenty in tbe back of a motor truck. The members 

of F Force who � e r e working a little further into 

the jungle � b a n we were also sent their men on 

trucks and they were in an even ^orse condition 

than our men. It was not uncommon to see a few naked 

bodies bouncing around in trucks as they went by 

our camp. 

Q In December did some prisoners arrive at 

your camp by train? 

A I remember in December a party of a little 

over 200 very sick men arrived by train and were 

taken into our camp. These men bad come to us 

from the hospital camp of another branch and were 

in an even worse condition than our men. Most 

of the^a were on stretchers and about thirty died, 

thirty of them died within five days of their 

arrival. 

Q From what diseases were they suffering? 

A The usual diseases of malaria
 5
 ulcers, 
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dysentorj'", malnutrition. 

Q In December, 1 9 4 3 , � e r e any of your sick 

evacuated to Siam? 

A At the end of 1943 and in early January, 

1944, most of the camp was evacuated to Siam. I was 

adjutant of our camp at the time and evacuated 3〇0 

men each day for six days. 

0 flow did you evacuate t h e m� 

A They � e n t by train, twelve trucks being 

allotted each day for all prisoners and for the 

guards and their baggage. 

o What was the size of these trucks
0 

A I remember measuring the trucks so that 

we could fit our stretcher cases into them. They 

w e r e sixteen f e e t , t h r e e , � six f e e t , t.o the best 

of my recollection。 It must be remembered that 

all these men were sick and many of � h e m could only 

walk by the aid of crutches. 

� On the first of January, what happened? 

A The trip on the first of January v;as the 

worst because only seven trucks turned up on the 

train that clay. Tbe .Japanese took one truck for 

themselves and their baggage anc
1

. left us with the 

other six。 Despite my protests the men were pushed 

into the six remaining trucks, averaging about fifty 
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men to a truck. The men could scarcely fit in and 

they had the prospect of a trip of thirty hours in 

the heat of tbe tropics under these conditions. 

Q Do you know how many of those raen reached 

their destination alive? 

A To the best of my knowledge all of those 

men reached t.he camp at the other end but the next 

day two men whom vje tvere forced to put on against — 

the Japanese forced Us to put them on against the 

advice of our doctor 一一 they died, one en route and 

the other just after arriving there. 

THE PRESIDENT: Are you about to break new 

ground, Mr. Justice Mansfield? 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: Yes. 

TEE PRESIDENT: We will adjourn until half— 

past one. 

(Whereupon, at 1200, a recess 

as taken.) 
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AFTERNOON SESSION 

The Tribunal net, pursuant to recess, at 

1 3 3 0 . 

� S H A L OF THE COURT s The International 

Liilitsry Tribunal for the Far East is now resumed, 

THE PRSSIDEKT� Mr. J u s� i c e Mansfield. 

J O H N K E V I N L L O Y D , Major, A.I.F., called 

as a witness on bohalf of the prosecution,resumed 

the stand and testified as follows� 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY KR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD (Continued)s 

Q �'ill you te'll the Tribunal of the treatment 

that the men received at camp as opposed to on work-

ing parties? 

A
 r

*hen the men returned to camp at nighttime, 

weary and sick, they were not allowed to rest as they 

should have been. Every Japanese soldier had to be 

saluted at all times whenever he was seen. This 
/ 

meant standing up and bowing a dozen, two dozen rimes 

every n i g h � � F a i l u r e to do this resulted in frequent 

punishments, both individually and en masse. Night 

watchmen had to be provided — As a result of their 

failure to salute correctly, men were frequently 
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punished individually or en masse. Every night 

two or three hundred men had to be pulled out and 

stand at attention for an hour or two just for the 

whim of the guard. Night watchmen had to be provided 

at every entrance to every hut, and as a result 

dozens of men had "broken sleep each night. There 

was never any attempt to consider the feelings of 

the prisoners if they ran counter to the incon-

venience of even one Japanese. For instance, because 

one Japanese did not like the appearance and smell 

of one.of the hospital huts close to his guard-

house he ordered that hut to be evacuated immediately 

of all sick personnel to some other � a r t of the camp. 

For some two to three weeks a party of fifty sick 

men were forced to clear away the jungle from the 

front of the commander's house so that he could have 

a better view of the valley. On another occasion 

sick men were made to clear back stones out of the 

river which flowed through cur camp to improve its 

appear?.nee for an inspection by some senior officer. 

Q How much inspection by senior officers did 

you have while you were at Changi Camp? 

A In the railway camps I recollect three or 

possibly four inspections by senior officers, two 

of whom I remember were generals. They walked 
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quickly through the camps without making any in-

spection, and never to my knowledge did they speak 

to one prisoner of v?ar to ask the conditions under 

which we livqd, 

Q At about what time were those inspections 

held? 

A At regular intervals throughout 194-3. 

Q
 r 7

erG there any executions of prisoners 

during the time that you were in Burma and Siam? 

A There were many executions of prisoners 

at the Burma end of the Burma-Siam Railway in 

1942 and 1943. -
rr

hen I first arrived at the base 

camp of the railway I again met Brigadier Varley 

and his staff, and they told me of the execution 

of � � o parties of Nethtirlands East Indies officers. 

These two parties had attempted to escape, -were 

caught， and were shot in the small cemetery of the 

prisoner of war camp. A few months later three 

Australians made an attempt to escape, nn officer 

and two sergeants. By arrangement among themselves, 

one of the sergeants returned to the camp a few days 

later, heavy with malaria\ he couldn't go on。 He was 

executod about a weak later. The other two were 

surprised in a rice field by some Burmese police. 

In the fight the officer was killed, and the sergeant 
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Q Now
5
 you have not mentioned what medical 

supplies were furnished to you by the Japanese while 

you were in these jungle camps. 

A Medical supplies received were almost negli-

gible excepting for, perhr.ps, quinine.
 w

e nearly 

r.lways had some quinine\ never enough. Sometimes for 

weeks on end none at all. Nothing was provided to 

combat dysentery. No vitamin tablets were Eveilable 

to combat mslrmtrition diseases. For jungle ulcers 

ell we had was hot xvster, old rrgs th£t we used for 

month after month, and the patient was held down by 

some medical orderlies whilst the doctor cut out the 

rotting flesh with c. knife. The supplies received 

for one month would not be sufficient for our require-

ment s for e qur-rter of a day. 

Q Do you know if the JsDr.nese themselves hcd 

sufficient qucntities of drugs? 

A I have no knowledge of whet they had in that 

direction, 

Q After you left Burma, to whc.t camp did you go? 

A I moved down into" Sirm to c camp ft a place 

known e.s Tcmaken where I stryed for c"bout. twelve months. 

Q In that cr.mp were you at £ny time exposed to 

bombing by Allied planes? 

A Y e s , frequently towards the end of the yecr. 
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Our camp was surrounded on two sides by a railway 

line, importent rrilway bridges, enti-eircrrft guns, 

and small river wells. The camp wss not marked as a 

prisoner of war cr.mp despite our repeated requests 

to have some marking placed out there. The two bridges 

were frequently bombed| sometiraes two or three times 

in e day, snd v/e nearly always had men killed or 

wounded in the process。 On the 29th of November, for 

instance, severel bombs fell in the enmp snd killed 

14 men snd injured 38, After th?t bombing we.were 

visited by the Japanese chief of the prisoners of wcr 

in Sism, Colonel SUGASAWA. He was rsked by our senior 

representative to move us, r.nd his re”ly wcis thr.t he 

was doing everything he could for u s � Hadn
1

t he olrecdy 

placed severcl r:nti-r.ircreft guns <rround our ccmp to 

protect us from the bombers? At c csmp a little bit 

fcrther down from us, in one bombing r<?.id 96 men were 

killed end over 230 injured in a few moments, 

Q Did you have any form of air raid shelter? 

A Yes, We hsd drains rnd slit trenches. But a 

lot of these were within the denger zone of the bridge 

snd were, therefore, dengerous in themselves. Thr.t is 

where some of our men were killed. Sometimes we were 

allowed to disburse from cr.mp, but thct was lr.ter 

stopped, r.nd slit trenches were dug rt the further 
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end of the camp. 

Q Were the sick ever forced to work in this 

cemp? 

A For two or three months they were not forced 

to do so. Then ell the fittest men were taken away 

from our ccmp end sent enroutc to Japan. After that 

pcrties had frequently to be found to go bcck to the 

railway ccmcs in the jungle for maintenance w o r k rnd 

for improvements of the rsilv/sy line. Others went 

off for the making of ror.dv/rys, end quite s lot were 

employed locclly, especially in the anti-circrcft 

gun position. To get men to do this, the Japanese 

frequently insisted on sick, men being made to work. 

At times there would not "be more • thr.n a hundred fit 

men in the csmp, end' to obtain the labor, the Jc.pe.nese 

would insist that several hundred men be marked up 

on the books from heavy sick to light sick so thct they 

could be mcde to work. Frequently there would be no 

inspection^ sometimes a very cursory glance by a 

Jsponese mediccl officer at the hundred or thousrnd 

sick men who wt re presented to him. 

Q Did you receive nny Red Cross supplies at any 

time while you were in Burmf?. or Thcilsnd? 

A During the whole of my imprisonment � shared 

one Red Cross parcel with six other men. 
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There were f fev/ di.strl'bijt.ioiig. . o f — s t u f f s obtained 

from some IOCEI Red Cross society operating from 

Bfngkok. This would consist of tins of sclted pork, 

a few pecnuts, a few beans. B u t the quantities re-

c o i� e d would be sufficient to flavor the meals for one 

day for the whole CGmp. 

Q Were cny "brutelities inflicted upon the 

prisoners while you were st Tamakon? 

A Yes, There were the constant beatings in 

the or.mp and in working parties, particularly so in 

the party that had to go every day to the anti-

aircraft gun position. I'en were very reluctant to go on 

that particular working party because of the frequent 

punishments meted out by Japanese soldiers at the gun 

positions. Complaints were made to their officers, but 

the position beenme worse instead of better. 

C,. On the 9th of February 1945", did ’you move 

to another camp? 

A On the 9th of February I left Taraakan and 

went. int.o an officers
1

 camp at Kanburi, a few kilometers 

fe.rt-hor away,. 

Q How irany officers were in that camp? 

A Just under 3,000 officers of several different 

nationalities. 

Q Were any restrictions, undue restrictions, 
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imposed upon you in that camp? 

A Yes, we were inflicted with every possible 

restriction, so much so th^t we thought we were being 

treated as criminals of the w o r s t c l a s s . Before six 

in t he evening excepting for one hour at lunch time, 

vje were not allowed to lie aovm or recline. We were 

not allowed to read. We were not allowed to have pencil 

or paper. No sport was permitted. No singing or 

music of any description. No gatherings. We were 

not allowed to bathe before a certain hour. We were 

not allowed to keep water in our huts. Our mail was 

kept for months, sometirr.es several months, before 

being handed to us. We were not allowed to smoke 

outside the huts. Lights in huts a hundred meters 

long were restricted to three candles or slush lamps. 

On one occasion we were all kept in our huts for 

fourteen da*
r

s. And there were dozens gf other 

restrictions which I could recount if required. 

Q Were E3n,7 punishments inflicted upon the 

inmates of that camp? 

A Yes, the punishments of officers were quite 

frequent. The usual form would be standing outside 

the guardhouse all day in the sun and at attention. 

But sometimes these punishments would be far more 

severe. One English officer � a s very bndly beaten up 
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in of last ye?,r. He was kept in solitary confine-

ment, most of the time undergrcua<i
t
 and wss only 

released by the end of the war. He suffered from 

malaria, he v;as starved, he went off his mind, and he 

� i m r s c o g n i z a b l e by his friends '-vlien he was eventually 

recovered. 

We -,5/ere forbidden to pick up the pamphlets 

which were dropped throughout the area by our own 

aircraft. A Lutch officer picked one up one day. He 

was badlv beaten, his arm was broken, he s stood up 

outside the guardhouse for twenty-four hours. He was 

then put into a cell for eight d?ys, and only when he 

was released was he able to get any attention for his 

broken arm. 

On another occasion an Australian officer was 

ordered to stand for four days outside the guardhouse 

-without food or water. He collapsed after two days 

and was released. As he was a barrister in civil 

life he becarae k n o w n , after t h a t , as the judge of 

long standing. 

Q Were any of these men given any form of trial 

before being punished? 

A No form of trial was ever given to them. 

Q You were finally released when the war ended, 

is that so? 
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1 

2 

A Yes, 

THE PRESIDENT; Mr. Levin. 

3 

4 

IIR. LEVIN; Mr. President. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

5 

6 

B Y IIR. 

Q 

LSVIN: 

Hajor, when you were captured, the conditions 

at Singapore were very chaotic, were they not? 

8 A Yes, up to the time we surrendered it, and 

9 about th^t time, conditions
 T

.vero chaotic. 

10 Q After you w.sre captured， where were you 

11 confined in Singapore until you loft? 

12 A With all the other Australians at Changi on 

13 Singapore Island. 
i 

14 
Q And what w^s the charscter of your treatment 

15 there? 

16 
A The worst features were hunger and overcrowding. 

1 7 
The ration of rice was twelve ounces per man per day. 

18 
Q Lo you know of your own knowledge whether there 

19 
was acditional food available? 

20 
A I personally saw quite a lot of our own food 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

dumps that would no doubt have fallen into the hands 
21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

of the Japanese at or before the surrender. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q Now, -3t the first camp that you were confined 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
at, who was th-3 highest-ranking officer in charge •"一 who 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

was the highest-ranking Japanese officer in charge? 
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A Lo you me^n in Singapore, or in"•一 

Q Yes, in Singapore. 

A ェ cio not know his name ； never saw him. 

Q Lid you know his rank? Did you know the 

rank of the officer? 

A No. 
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Q Fow when you boarded the ship which you 

described were there other ships.available for the 

prisoners? 

A Thej-e were a thousard on the Celebes Maru, 

two thousand on the other ship, and other ships 

laden with prisoners of war met us en route ard. we 

all proceeded to Burma together; four ships in all. 

Q And how many prisoners of war were on the 

ship on which you were? 

A One thousand. 

Q Kow did the fact that the men were not 

allowed to go on deck -- was that "because of any 

security measure^ 

A � should think not, because many of the --

there was space up on the deck for quite a n w b e r 

of the men and that would have relieved the heat 

and conditions down below in the hold. The Japanese 

had machine gurs on higher decks ard could have 

adequately covered us from there, irrespective of 

the rubber of men on the lower decks 一- on the 

lower deck. 

Q Now, after you got to your destination at --

what was that? Ii.
T

erguri? 

A Mergui. 

Q Mergui -- and you were housed in the school 
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house, did they subsequently provide additional 

space for you for housing? 

A Yes, after one month we were moved to a 

newly constructed camp and remained there for two 

months, The accommodation there was not so bad and 

was far better than anything ever we experienced in 

later years. 

Q You testified as to one of the prisoners 
9

 � who was 一一 ran away and v;as caught ar.d executed and 
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was tried. 

A The first two who ran away together were 

given a trial by a Japanese court partial. 

Q And as a result of that trial the verdict 

was e x e c u t i o r ,� presume? 

A Yes. 

Q Now was Shuberth caught "by the same group 

of Japanese officers? 

A Yes, we were still under the same admiris-

tration and the same officers. 

Q Can you explain why the same group had 

tried the first two and not tried Shuberth? 

A At the first trial an Australian colonel 

was allowed to attend. We have no knowledge of any 

trial at which Shuberth may have been tried. 

Q Then, as I understand it, you don't know 
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whether or net Shubertli was tried? 

A A l l � know is that after he was taken away 

from us I, myself, found his grave accidentally 

several d a y y later
5
 and we asked the Japanese and 

thev admitted that they had shot him. 

Q Did you ask them whether he had been tried? 

.A No. 

Q Now you mentioned an incident of the torture 

of a rumber of men at Tavoy. That fact you don't 

know of your own knowledge, do you? 

A Some of them were men of my ovm unit. They 

were taken av;ay ard when they returned they showed 

me the marks of their torture and described the 

various tortures tc me. They.also described the 

screams of the others who were being interrogated by 

the Japanese, which they could hear from the place 

of confinement. 

Q In one place you speak of the epidemics 

caused b^ the housirg, which were -- the housing in 

filthy huts. Were the epidemics indigenous to this 

territory? 

A The worst epidemics were dysentery and 

cholera, and without having a proper knowledge of 

these tilings, I think they are both indigenous to 

those parts. 
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Q As compared tc your protests, how often 

were the complaints acted upon? 

A � can't understand, that question. 

Q Well, you would protest rather frequently, 

would you not? 

A At first, yes, but as time went on we pro-

tested less and less, because we discovered that 

our protests ?/ere wasted. 

C You protested
i
 but it was rare to have the 

z i 
complaints acted- upon? By that � mean that the 

coirplaints were infrequently successfully acted 
i • ‘ / 

upon? 

A I rnear. to say that very, very rarely were 

any of the things which we complained about 

rectified subsequently. 

Q When you requested that the:'' carry the men 

ir ambulances -- did they have sufficient anbu-

lances for the use of the men? 

A lihey had no ambulance. The suggestion was 

that some truck or trucks be fitted up as an 

ambulance for our benefit. 

Q And did thev grant your request in any 

instance? 

A No. 
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Q Now, you spe�k: of the conditions at Csmp 

Tcmakan, Is thrt correct? 

A Tamakan. 

Q Were the Jcpanese olso exposed to the bomb-

ing? 

A Yes, with this difference, thrt the;
r

 could 

disperse c.nd they had many, many deep dugouts built 

by the prisoners for them. 

Q With the exception of the two genercla whose 

nr.mes you don't knov; and Colonel SUGASAWA, were those 

the highest ranking J&pcnese officers th� ,t you come-

in contcct with ct r.ny of the csmps where you were a 

prisoner of war? 

A Yes. 

MR。 LEVIN: Thcnk you. 

THE PRESIDENT� Mr. Howard. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION (Continued) 

BY MR. HOWARDS 

Q Major, did the Joioanese - - � mrnn, did the 

Burmese police coopcratc with the Jcnancse Army? 

A I wasn't in ?. position to know. All control 

of us was by Japanese. 

Q Maytc； I misunderstood you, tut I thought the：t 

you testified thct one of the Austrr.lir.ns who cscapcd 

s returned by Burmese policemen. 

A
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A N o . I sr-id they were surnrlscd in a rice 

field by Burmese police. One wr：s shot. 

Q . �ell, yov. don
1

1 know then whether the Eurmsse 

police: v/cro friendly towcrd the Japcnese or towrrd 

the Australlini escrpcd prisoners cit
1

 � : r , is thct 

correct? 

a The only knowlc-dge I hsvc oS the Burmese pollcc 

in relrtions to prisoners of wcr is the incident � heve 

just recounted. 

Q Do you know whether or not the Burmese police 

rccognized the Austrslicns e.s Austrrlirns? 

A To my knowledge on the r&ilvray line I don't 

think ony Australian ever sr.w a Burmese policeman. 

THI PRESIDENT: They hr.d to escape before 

they met them. 

THE WITNESS j * The whole arep wr.s cont.roled by 

Jrpanose cつ.]id Japcnesc alone to the best of ray knowledge. 

THE PRESIDENT; Whrt point arc you making,. 

M r . Howerd? 

MR. HOWARD: W e l l , I cm trying to bring out 

thrt the Burmese police assisted in returning cscpped 

prisoners to the Jcpcnose instead of assisting them 

to escape to their homeland. 

THI PRESIDENT� W e l l , w c are not trying the 

Burmese police. The Burmese police didn't execute 
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these people or starve: them, or kick them about, or 

mrltreat them. 

MR. H O W O D : If the Court doesn't csr-e to 

htrr how the Burmese people r.nd police felt cbout 

the Japcncse A r m y , � hrve no further questions. Thrnk 

you. 

MR. LLVI"� ; Mr. PrLsident, there will be no 

further cross-cxaminntion of Hejor Lloyd. 

MR. JUSTICE M A N S F I E L D � � c.sk thrt the witness 

be cxcuscd, if the Tribunrl plot SG. 

THE PI^SIDELIT: Tho witness mnv go on the, 

usuc.l tfrms. 

(•'Thereupon, the witness wr s excused.) 
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m-L. JUSTICE-MANSFIELD: If the Tribunel 

please, I will now proceed to tender some further 

documents. 

Burma and Siam prisoners of war sent to the 

Burma Sector of the Burma-Siam hailway。 

Prosecution document numbered 5206A, the 

affidavit of Chaplain F. E . Bashford, is offered for 

identification, and the marked excerpts produced in 

evidence. 

CLERK OF THE COUKT: Prosecution's document 

No。 5206A will receive exhibit Ko.-一 

Mil. JUSTICE M A N S F � � � � meant to intro-

duce the synopsis
?
 if the Tribunal please。 I tender 

that next exhibit, which is 5443• 

THE PRESIDENT; Admitted on the usual terms. 

GLEl.K OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 54-43 will receive exhibit l^o. 1559. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

N o . 1 5 5 9 and received in evidence.) 

m . JUSTICE M A K S F I E L D � � now tender pro-

secution document Wo. 5206A for identification。 

CLEK1C OF THE COUI.T: Prosecution's docu-

ment No. 5206A will receive exhibit No. 1560 for 

identification only. 
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(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1560 for identification.) 

liiK。 JUSTICE MlvSFIELD: And the marked 

exhibit produced, in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE C0UI.T5 The marked excerpt 

therefrom, bearin. the same document number will re-

ceive exhibit No. 1560-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to wns marked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1560-A a.':d received in evidence.) 

M " JUSTICE MaKSFIELD: QuoTOTion (reading) 

"On 1 5 s t Thambyuzayp.t C a m p , I interviewed 

POW No. 2867, Pte. Bell, A.J., A I F . At that time he 

was confined after being recaptured following his 

escape on 12.2.43. At that time he had no knowledge 

that he wc.s under sentence of death, nor did I have 

any such knowledge. K、_: was, in fact, executed at 

0815 hours on 16。3.4>3 - the day after I interviewed 

him. So far as I am aware he was given no trial. 

"About 14 days prior to 13.12.43, the under-

mentioned Lutch personnel escaped from .Japanese 

captivity from Wegalie Camp (approximately 8 kms. 

from Thambyuzayat) : Capt。《j。H.W. De hochemont5 
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Capt. F . A. M . Harterink, Lieut. G. a . Hermans。 
* T 

"These officers were subsequently captured； 

the officers were executed by a firing party under 

Lieut. NiilTO about 0815 hours on 13.12.42. 

"On 2/7.12.42, the imclermentioned Dutch per-

sonnel were executed for eseeping from Wegalie Csmp: 

Sgt. Th. H。 Van Kensen; Pte. A . K. J. Vredvevoogd； 

Pte. Ha Iio Neilessen« 

"On 13,12。42 KX 69005 Pte. whitfield G.H.aIF., 

arrived at Tliambyuzayat Camp. He had escaped some 

weeks before from rlsndaw Camp, roughly kilo-

meters from Thambyuznyat. Our medical officers were 

of opinion that V.liitf ield rre s not mentally sound. 

Brigadier V n l e y interviewed liAJTO for the purpose 

of discovering what would be the punishment of e. 

man who escaped and gave himself up, but not being 

mentally sound。 NAITO informed the Brigr.dier thet 

such a man would net be shot。 Whitfield was not 

confined but allowed to remain in the hospital hut. 

"Shortly before 1100 hours on 14.12.42, a party 

of Japanese arrived at this hut
5
 r sked which was 

Whitfield, and upon being told that Whitfield wr.s 

'outside boiling a billy, ' the mr.n who was boiling 

the billy rnd who we.s
 ?
 in fact,�]aitfi.eld, was 

seized and his hends tied behind his back, and his 
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eyes blindfolded and the man immediately taken to 

the place of execution - a cemetery nearby - nnd 

executed c few minutes later. There s no sem-

blance of a t r i a l . I conducted the burial service 

over his remains on that day。" 
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Prosecution document numbered 5034, the 

cffidavit of Lieutenant Colonel C. M . Black is now 

produced for identification. 

CLERK OF THF. COURT� Prase cut ion document 

No. 5034- will rcceivo exhibit No. 1561 for identifica-

tion only. 

(V/hcrcupon, the document rbove referred 

to wan-, marked prosecution's exhibit No. 1561 for 

id cnt if i c a t ion.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: The mrrked cxcerpts 

"being offered in evidence. 

THE P R F S I � T s Admitted on the usurl terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT; Thq excerpt there-

from, bearing the same document number, will receive 

exhibit No. 1561A. 

(Whereucor., the document rbove referred 

to wss merked prosecution's exhibit N o . 1 5 6 1 A 

c~nd received in evidence ,) 

MR, JUSTICF MANSFIELD: This document stetes 

thrt the witness commanded a force of prisoners of 

Wor which at the end of 19^-2 went to a cemp 40 kilos 

from Tharnbazyr t. 

"Conditions ct this cemp were shocking. There 

wss an insufficiency of water end food wes very short. 

The hospitr 1 v/cs in c gully, rnd the cr.mp hrd been 
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occupied rreviov sly by Burmese end wr s generally in very 

brd condition. The sick rr.tc rabidly incrersed � n d I 

think c.t one strgc there wore rbout 130 men in hospitr.l 

end ffbout 90 to 100 hra very bad dir.rrhoec. out of a 

totrl strength of 6 7 � . T w o men died from dysentery, 

but despite my representctions to thr Jc.r)anese l-"nce-

corporc.l, who wf.s in chcrge of the canro, end to 

Brigndicr Vcrloy w£.--werc un: blc to get anything with 

v/h:'' ch to trcrt the sick r t a l l . L r t r, we were forced 

to Pbcndon the crimp on occount of its bod condition 

c:nd lcck of wcter 

The conditions described were common to all 

the cr.mps tho witness lived in, exccpt thnt hours of 

work w,.re normrlly long c.nd incredibly r.rduous. 

Lcter rt Thrmbczy^t nerrly 30 men were killed 

c-.nd tho witness wcs wounded by Allied rir r.ttrck. 

There wrs no distinctive signs on the crmn to indicrtc 

it contcincd prisoners of wcr. 

At Retpu sick men were forced to work. The 

Jcpenese Crmp Corammdc.nt on one occr.sion ordered two 

of his subordinates to kill g prisoner of v/r.r. Th©y 

refused, vvhereupon the Comric.ndr.nt himself shot the 

prisoner of wrr w h o , f o r t u n r t e l y , wr.s only i n j u r e d . 

THE PRI-SIDFNT: will recess for fifteen 

minutes. 



(^hereupon, r,t 14.45，e recess wrs 

taken until 1500, cftcr which the proceed-

ings were resumed GS follows ；) 
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MARSHAL OF THE COURTs The International 

Military Tribunal for the Far East is now resumed. 

THE PRESIDENT: Mr. Justice Mansfield. 

MR。JUSTICE MAI\
T

SFIELD; prosecution document 

numtered 5 0 4 1 , t h e affidavit of Dr. C. R。 B . Richards 

is offered for identification. 

CLERE OF THE C O � � P r o s e c u t i o n document 

Kc. ^041 will receive exhibit No. 1562 for identifi-

cation only. 

(Whereupon、 the document above re-

ferred to was rrarked prosecution's exhibit 

No, 1562 for identification.) 

MR。 JUSTICE MAfSFIELD: The marked excerpts 

thereof are produced ip. evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT; Admitted or； the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT� The marked excerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same document nurnlier, will 

receive exhibit N o . 1 5 6 2 - A . 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was ma -ked .prosecution' s exhibit 

No
t
 1

i

?62-A and received ir evidence.) 

MR。 JUSTICE MAFSFIELD; This document states 

that in August 1943 the witness, was in 80-kilo Camp 

at Aperong- There were two hundred Allied prisoners 

of war in a filthy hospital camp. The rair continually 

G
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drenched the meru There were no fit men in this 

camp to look after the sick。 The average deaths 

were between two and six dailv and sick men had to 

c a r r� their cowrades tc the grave. The Japanese 

refused to allow the witness to look after the sick. 

Food given to them was a tinv amount of rice. Medical 

supplies were only obtained by b a r t e r , such as a 

1/vatch for a bottle of Iodoform. “The policy of the 

Japanese commander in that area was that whilst 

men were wcrkirg；, they would receive food
5
 but as 

soor as the-- becair.e ill
5
 they were critter, off and 

were sent d.own tc this narticular hospital to live 

the.re tc d i e . � car' imagine nothing rrcre appallir!。. 

t
v

a n condit-icrs under which these men lived and. 

died。 It was in effect a living morgue." 

Prosecution document nuirbered 5°38-A, the 

affidavit of Lieutenant Colonel G. E . Rarisay is 

offered for identification. 

CLIiRK OF THE COURT; Prosecution's document 

N o , 5
r

3 8 - A will receive exhibit I.:..o。 15^3 for identi-

fication o n l y . 

(>/hereur^on, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No 15(3 for identification.) 

MR。 JUSTICE LiANFFIELD': And the narked 
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excerpts thereof produced in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT J Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THF COURT; The marked excerpts 

t�erefror?. will receive exhibit N o . 1 5 6 3 - A . 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was irarked prosecution's exhibit 

N o . 1 5 6 3 - A and received ir evidence.) 

MR。JUSTICE n S F I E L D : This affidavit states 

that at 26 and � � � k i l o cairns or. the railwav, Korean 

camp guards irdiscrirrinately beat up prisoners. 

Working hours were long, and ir. the rainy season 

men often v;orked in mud up to their knees The-
5

* had 

r,o change of c l o t h i n g . At 105-tilo camp rren suffered 

greatly frcm dysentery malaria and ulcers. Guards 

found a favorite method of punishment ir 1'icking an 

u
1

c e r . There w e r e ore hur dred and fifty-eight deaths 

in sever months at this camp out of a force of less 

than one thousand m e n . At Tasarkan Camn C u r i n g 

194-4- dvsenter*^ fever ar.d malnutrition caused many 

deaths. 

The prosecution tenders prosecution document 

rubbered 5444, being a synopsis of e v i d e n c e . 

THE PRESIDENTs Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK CF TI1F; COIiBT: Prosecution' s documert 

No。 Vvill receive exhibit No。 
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("••hereupon；, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No, 1564 and received in evidence.) 

MB。JUSTICE MJlEFIELD: (Reading) ? "Prisoners 

of W a r sent to Siam Sector of B u r m a - S i a m R a i l w a y . 

Prosecution document numbered 5^59-A, the. 

affidavit of Lieutenant Colonel C. H . Kappe, is now 

offered for identification. 

CLERK OF TEE COURT� Prosecution's document 

No. 59-A will receive exhibit F o , � � f o r identi-

fication onl^-. 

(Whereunon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1565 for identification.) 

KF:。JUSTICE: E A J H E L D s And the rcarked excerpt 

produced Ir evidence. 

THE PKISIDEKT; Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK CF THt COURT? And the marked excerpt 

therefrom, bearing the same document number, will 

receive exhibit No。 1565-A. 

(Whereinon, the document above re-

ferred to u marked prosecution's exhibit 

No,l
c

.i 5-A and received in evidence..) 

THE FRESIDEKTs Mr. Justice Mansfield, there 

are nc markings on the copies of exhibit No 1 5 6� - A 
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handed to the judges. The original may be marked. 

腿。.JUSTICE MAI
:

S7IELDs The whole affidavit 

is ir evidence, if the Court please. 

THE PRESIDENT; Well, if the whole affidavit 

is in evidence, it cannot be marked; but, then, it 

is not a synopsis. 

ME。JUSTICE �
1

S F I E L D : Well, the whole 

affidavit is r.ot being read. 

(Reading): "This document states that in 

April, 1943, 7,0^0 prisoners of war were roved from 

Singapore to Siam. The trains were overcrowded, food 

was irregularly supplied, water was inadequate and 

sanitary conditions either- nor-existent or revolting. 

"From Barcpong the force was marched about 

1 8 ? m i l e s b y n i g h t - T h e r e w a s n o t r a n s p o r t to c a r r y 

h e a w equipment = The men ware beaten on the march 

by the guards ard � h e sick compelled to go on. The 

s t a g i n g camps en route w e r e f i l t h y . In M a y 19^-3 

the men conrenced work on the railway. 

“‘In all the w o r k i n g camps on the ‘ ail¥»av 

into which our party moved, the accommodation had not 

beer� completed and the buildings had . no roofs. The 

Monsoon rains were then falling. The food in these 

carrps � a s just rice and crion water or rice and bean 

water. 
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"'All the tiire our boots were falling to 

pieces, and there was no replacement of clothing 

or footgear. The work on the line was very hard 

or_ "boots as we were in mud and water all day long.. 

Later on had to ballast the line with stones and 

the men had to walk across these stones ard work 

in quarries without "boots. 

"'The hours of work varied from twelve to 

twenty per day. Twelve hours and fourteen hours 

per day were the r^ost common. Normally the men 

would be out at 8 a.m. and back at 10 p.m. We had 

no days off. The first day off we had was when the 

Railway was through, ard the line was joined near our 

camp about 19th or 20th September. We had started 

about 14th or 15th May, and we worked night after 

right right through to September, without a break. 

For months and months the men did n o � see their camp 

in daylight. Day after day and many tiroes a day, I 

made protests in an endeavour to get the numbers of 

m e n working r e d u c e d . Nothing w o u l d stop the Japanese。 

They said they would drive the men to work and if 

they wanted a thousand men for work, they 双culd get 

a thousand ner., irrespective of their physical con— 

dition. 

"'Bice with a few piece cf fish ir it
5
 was 
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the food ration. Ir. the early stapes rice was 

fairly plentiful, "but as soon as a man went sick, 

the ration was cut down to one-third of the amount 

giver to a working man. Sick were then starved, 

and it was impossible to build them up again 

11

 'During the course of the buildine; of 

the line I was told by the Japanese that it was 

a T.Cilitar3
r

 Railway, and as soon as the line was 

through, I saw the trains loaded with horses, guns, 

trucks^ amirurition, etc, 

"
1

 The Force I was with was called
 W

F " 

Force Until Ju
1

 y I was with Pond' s Battalion... 

and then with a special party。•••，at a general camp 

t
iust south of NIEKE. 

"'Ir, June Pond's Battallion arrived at 

LC^COITA where the party halted for t^o days. The 

troops were billeted ir huts which had been evacuated 

the previous day on account of cholera d e a t h s . The 

huts were i n d e s c r i b a b l y filthy and protests w h i c h 

were r.ade to the Japanese only caused the force to 

rea^ isse that they 切ere officially placed on the same 

level as Burmese Coolies. An ap^licatior. for tools 

with which to clean ur the fi]th brought the reply 

that rone was available, desnite the fact that hundreds 

of shovels and chunkels had been "brought from UPPER 
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� : C O I T A . Coolies walked through th'e huts, spat, 

defecated and vomited everywhere。 Tak carts and 

yelling droves congregated, at the entrance
c
 Yaks 

were taken through the huts and they dropped their 

excrc-ta vhere rice bags had to "be stored 

»' 'At IPPF::、SOFKUEAI Camp in August the 

latrines were flooded by incessant rair “ One of 

them had broken its banks and a filthy stream oozed 

through the cairp area and passed under the floors of 

the huts occupied by the hospital. Outside and 

ever, inside the huts was a quagmire. There was no 

reason for the hospital to be in the position in 

which it was as there high ground where it could 

have been placed. 

"'No provision for hospitalization of the 

force had been made except a small hospital camp at 

LOWER NIEKE, which was soor abandoned. Requests 

to allow fit men to remain in camp to improve the 

situation were refused and all fit men were made to 

work on railwe]?- construction. Any attempts to get 

tools with which officers cculd do this work ir.et 

with very little success. We ever found it difficult 

to obtain a Dick or shovel to dig graves for the dead. 

"'In the saire camp on thq 10th August cholera 

broke out. The area selected by the Japanese for the 
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isolation hospital was 'a small cleared space of 

low-lying ground on the river "bank’ where the mud 

was ankle deep and the only fixed accommodation was 

a sroall hut capable of holding no more than thirty-

patients . T h e remairder of the personnel placed 

in isolation had tc be quartered in tents and under 

tent flys which invariably leaked. No fit m e n were 

freed from engineer work to assist the sick in pro-

viding stagings to keep them from muddy ground., 

and all duties excert nursing had to be perfcrmed 

bY the personnel ir isolation. Requests for more 

serviceable tents and the release of men from work 

to iirnrove the area and ever for a few additional 
V 

tools all met vith the same result. The Japanese 

did not occupy this hospital. 

"'The instances I have giver above indi-

cate generally the type of accommodation in these 

camps, except that I have not stressed the terrific 

overcrowding which existed everywhere. 

"'The men had nothing to wear except the 

c] othing ir which they were captured, and rr.ost of 

that had rotted or -lerished during the ipor.ths of 

the monsoon. Many of the men 巧ere going to work with 

only a scanty niece of cloth around their loins• 

"'Force Headquarters were constantly asking 
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for medical supplies to be brought forward, but ‘ 

the answer always given was that the road tc the 

south was impassable. However, war equipment and 

merchandise for the NIEKE shopkeepers were being 

brought forward ir quantities by river boats. The 

result was that medical supplies v;ere practically 

non-existent. 

"'I have seen all the bones of a man
1

s 

feet exposed by an ulcer of the foot. I have seen 

the bones of a man's leg exposed from the knee tc 

the ankle and I have seen a Ria.n
1

 s ribs exposed by 

an ulcer under his arm. The only treatment which 

could be given was scraping' with sharp instruments.... 

"'On the 7th July a protest against the 

maltreatment of the men was forwarded- to GEFERA^L BANNO. 

This pointed cmt that or the July, the men marched 

out of camp at 0900 hours and after ploughing through 

mud for five kilometres they coirmerced w o r k at 1030 

hours. The task for the da;/- for 135 men was 1^0 metres 

of corduroying. This involved the removal of the rrud 

for a width of « �',laying the logs, and draining and 

reinforcing the track with earth and stones. Parties 

of ten
 +

o twelve men were forced to carry in the day 

seven loss 15 foot lorg and 10 to 12 inches in diameter 

25 a distance of one kilometre through the mud and slush. 
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Fcur men collapsed. Ir one instance only six men 

were detailed to a , these were driven along 

by an engineer who struck the men every ten yards 

or so with a bamboo stick, After a break of thirty 

minutes for lunch they had to yi orl
r

 or until 2100 

hours with one rest of fifteen minutes, returring 

to camt) at 2230 hours. The working hcurs the next 

day were the same, except that there was no break 

during the afternoon. Instead of ten to twelve 

men being allotted to each log carrying party, 

there vvere only seven. 

"'The majority cf men who went to work 

would normally have been in hospital or on light 

duties. 

"On one rccasior we v;ere able after some 

difficulty to raise the required nurnber of men for 

w o r k for the engineers w h e n the Japanese deipanded 

another fifty for work inside the caniPe . . . I refused 

on the ground that I had no more men who were capable 

of standing oj their feet."。.one of them. .... entered 

one of the hospital wards and corar!er-ced �lashing at 

the men with a stict with the object of driving them 

out to w o r k . " After the Japanese had stated that, 

if the men were rot forthcoming the whole camp ration 

would be cut in half, we decided that 3t would be in 
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the irterest of the men if we selected fiftr, rather 

than have the camr) literally starved. At this stage 

conditions in No. 3 camp were well nigh desperate. 

The number of sick was above one thousand, cut of 

a strength of 1680....
1 

"In July 1943, when the witness had sent 

out less than the �requir:
:

id number of men owing to 

sickness, one of the Japanese officers sizrimoned him 

and stated that� 

"'The corstruction of the railway had to 

go cr without delay as it was required for oper-

ational purposes, and had to be finished within a 

certain time at all costs, irrespective of the 

loss of lives of British and Australian prisoners. 

He said it was no use our quoting the articles 

of the Geneva Convention, as our own people had 

offended against it by the sinking of hosr.ital ships 

and by running down civilian internees with steam 

rollers. If necessary, he stated, the men would be 

required to work three to four days on end without 

rest 

“
!

 I gained the irr^ression that everything 

was to "be subordinated to the completior： of the line 

by the end of August
5
 and �/hen this was not fulfilled 

(The Japanese) became insane with rage. In the 
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last days of it? construction our ren had to work 

from 053° hours until 0200 hours the following day. 

"'On the 13th September I was informed by-

Lieutenant FUKUDA that the men must be prepared to 

^'ork all through the night as the railway was only 

a few kilometres to the north， and it was recessary 

that the line should reach SOI KURAI, three kilometres 

to the south b〉, tho l6th. Owing to the heavy rain, 

ho
T

.vsver
5
 the v;c,:.k ceased at 2230 hours, the men having 

beer out since 053° hours that irorning, On the 14th 

Se-Dtember reveille was at 0530 hears and despite 

heavy rain ail day and throughout ^he evening the 

men were forced tc remain out imtil 02.30 hours on 

the 15th. Again they >vere. rouned at 0530 hours and 

were "worked until midnight of the ].5~l6th September. 

Or, the l£th reveille wcis at 0530 hours and work 

finished ?t 2200 hours. By this tine the men were 

completely exhausted. Conditions
 T

.vere approximately 

the same on the 17th. All the foregoing facts are 

set out in iry diary which I kept at the time.,.. 

'"Of the original 3,(62 raen who left SINGAPORE 

as members of 'F' Force ̂  1.0£0 failed to re turn ̂  repre-

senting approximately 2 9 � of the A J . F , component. 

The losses ir the whole Force was 4 4 � . T h e British 

lost ••«••' 
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Prosecution document numbered � 0 £ 4 A , the 

affidavit of Major B.L.\¥. CLARKE_ a doctor, is now 

produced for identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT; Prosecution's document 

No. 5064-A will receive exhibit N o . f o r identi-

fication only. 

(Whereunon, the document above re. 

ferred to was narked prosecution's exhibit 

N o , 1 5 ^ 6 for identification.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: And the marked 

excerpts therein offered in evidence. 

THE PR!SIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: And the marked cxcerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same document number, will 

receive exhibit N o . 1 5 � - A . 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No.1566-A and received in evidence.) 

MP “ JUSTICE MMSFIELD: This document described 

the ccrditioi- of some of the iren of F Force who returned 

from the ro.ilway camps in December, 194-3� 

"These men were in a shocking condition, 

suffering from gross attacks of beri-beri, and its 

various types, malaria, tropical ulcers and gross 

dobi]ity. The loss of weight was simply appalling. 

t 
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The average loss of weight would a~^ear to be in . 

the reighbourliood of 70-60 l b s .つ e r individual. 

Approximately 80 per cent of these men had to 

>e admitted irmedintely to hospital." 

Prosecution document numbered 5013? the 

a fidavit of R . G。 WILLIAMS
5
 is offered for identi-

fication. 

CLERK CF THE CCURT: Prosecution document 

I\'o, 5013 will receive exhibit No 1^67 for identi— 

fication only. 

(Whereupon, the document above :re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1567 for identification.) 

MK。JUSTICE r.!ANSFIELDs And the excerpts 

marked therein row produced in evidence. 

THE PBESIDEI'Ts Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK CF THE COUIiTs The marked excerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same document number, will 

receive exhibit No。 

OiTaerexmon，the document above re-

ferred to wr.s marked p r o s e c u� i o n
T

s exhibit 

N o • 1 5 6 7 - A and received in evidence.) 

J,:R。 JUSTICE I/'MSFIELD; This document describes 

the nightmare journey of prisoners of war by cattle 

truck from Singapore to Siam, Men were overworked, 
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underfed, lived in appalling filthy were beaten and 

forced to work Tihen sick at carcps in and near 

KIFSIOK, Dyserteiy, malaria and cholera took their 

toll. Clothing hardly existed and after a day's work, 

some men actually w e r e only able to crawl b a c k to 

camp. Towards � h e end of the construction of the 

railway, men were forced to work impossible hours, 

and the Japanese recklessly disregarded the danger 

ef landslides so that on one occasion six iren were 

needlessly killed. 

Prosecution document nuiribs^ed •50
/

7, the 

affidavit of Lieutenant Colonel E. J. BARRETT, 

R。A.M,C., is tendered for identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

Ko„ 5067 � i l l receive exhibit No。 1568 for identi-

fication only. 

0�/hereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1568 for identification.) 

M", JUSTICE IvIAKSFIELDs And the marked 

excerpts offered in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURTs And the marked excerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same document number, will 

receive exhibit No
 t
 1568-A. 
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(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was rarked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1568-A and received ir. evidence.) 

luF.。JUSTICE IIAFSFIELD: This document treats 

of the conditions In CHUI'GKAI Sick Camp between May 

194-3 nnd January 194-4. The average niurber of prisoners 

of war in the camp was 8,0^0. They consisted of 

men sent from the railway camps suffering from various 

injuries and diseases. In seven months 1400 prisoners 

died, many from tropical ulcers which had been caused 

b}
r

 injury at work or from the guards, and from 

deficiency diseases. 

There were rc anaesthetics, ro instruments 

and a ireagre sunply of drugs. The witness states: 

"One dr.y 5 Japanese doctors came to see 

the c a m p . � asked their to w a t c h an amputation w h i c h 

was being carried out on a tropical ulcer case. 

During the course of the operation one of the Japanese 

doctors fainted and another was sick. Thinking this 

was a good opportunity to request proper instruments 

and supplies of drugs
 v
 I made a request to them and 

their answer wこs that エ must realize that these were 

prisoners of war and no supply could be made.
11 
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-.Prosecution document numbered 5072, the 

affidavit of t-gt. C. Berry, is now offered for identific-j 

ation. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5072 will receive exhibit No, 1^69 for identifcation 

only. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

No. 1569 for identification.) 

JUSTICE MANSFIELD: And the marked 

excerpts cro offered in evidence. 

THE PREtlDEKT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

GLERK OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts 

therefrom
?
 bearing the same document number, will 

receive exhibit No. 1569-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1569-A and received in evidence.) 

I®. JUSTICE r'AN^FIELD: This document states 

that the witness was at Sungkrai from May, 1943 until 

September, 19^3� 

"^Then at �ungkrai � was at No, 2 Camp (Death 

Valley) and was forced to work on the road during ray-

first nine days. At bungkrai there were baKboo buildings 

w
o
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without roofs or sides. There was mud on the floors 
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wbich had no foundations whatever. Above the floor 

there was bamboo matting. The first night 1680 

prisoners of � r were put into tfio huts about 200 

metres long and a b o u t 24 feet b r o a d . It was raining 

when we arrived and it continued all night. There 

no cover whatsoever and the monsoon rain c-ne 

down and no one had groundsheets or other protection. 

It soon became absolutely impossible to lie there. 

The only alternative 7/??.3 to light fires and keep warm 

b y standing around t h e m . We stayed there all n i g h t 

until 0500 hours the following morning when everybody 

paraded prior to going on to the railroad tbe first 

day. "e were given no opportunity of cleaning up or 

making thp camp inhabitable. We were divided into 

groups of fifty and positions were allotted four miles 

on each side of the camp. My particular party was 

rrarched about three miles from the camp. It was rain-

ing vpry hard and we v/ere very cold, only getting 

half a pint of rice for breakfast, which was served 

at 0530 hours. Each man was issued with a spade, a 

basket and a pick, lie started work immediately digging 

the road and we stopped for ten minutes every five 

hours. Half a pint of rice was issued � t a quarter to 

one and then ye continued. We raarchfd back to the camp 

at 1830 hours. This was the daily routine. 
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"After two days of rain the canp ^'es nothing 

but a sea. No protection was afforded against the 

rain. Every man in the carap had to line up in the 

dark for a farther quarter of a pint cf rice and 

vegetable stor? at about 1915 hours. During the day's 

work nobody was permitted by the Japanese to leave 

the party if they were ill or hurt in any way. After 

eight days, during which period it rained steadily, 

palm branches were placed on the roof as a protection 

and also on the sides of the huts. Nothing was done 

about the floor and below the bamboo mats the water 

rushed through. The nen had to lie down on the bamboo, 

in the danp. 

"On ny second day there, cholera broke out. 

No preparation had be^n made for an isolation hospital 

and the cases could not be segregated. After approxim-

ately a week fron the time of my arrival, the Japanese 

provided a hut for cholera cases and the following 

day I was sent as a medical orderly for duty at the 

hut. This hut was only partly roofed against the rain 

snd the centre of the hut coincided with the course 

of the water escaping down the hillside. There were 

bamboo mats on the sides of the wall of the hut but 

there w^s nothing in the centre wherp � h e major part 

of the water carae through. There were so many casualties 
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tbot thore insufficient room by the walls and some 

had to lip in the water. The holes in the roof �/ere 

so large that the rain cnme through on to the men who 

w^re lying beneath. We had no water other than water 

from the roof, which we had to boil. There was no 

accommodation for thp orderlies, who had to sleep 

among the patients, No cholera inoculation wns possible* 

"The casualties were carried to the hospital 

by the fit prisoners of war on groundsheets. Cholera 

being h i g h l y c o n t a g e o u s , these m e n ?/ere f r e q u e n t l y 

infectpd nnd died. There wns no lighting whatever 

and w h e n � w a s on n i g h t d u t y it w a s i m p o s s i b l e to 

removp the der.d, who in consequence had to renain 

among the living until daybreak. On the first day 

thirty-eight men died .̂ nd were left outside the hut, 

no provision, being made for them to be removed. There 

w a s a c r e m t i o n p a r t y of p r i s o n e r s of w n r but these 

could do nothing because the Japanese refused to 

givf� them shovels or other implements "with which to 

bury the bodies. There 河ere つ.ny number of tools be-

cause thoy h-id to be used for digging the road. These 

t h i r t y - e i g h t m e n w e r e l e f t o u t s i d e the h u t for two 

days, only sor?e of them being covered. Eventually 

a f t e r t',vo days the J a p a n e s e gave f a c i l i t i e s for b u r y i n g 

them 
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"Another hut ^/ns made available for dvsentery 

cases. Thp Japanese used to test all prisoners of 

^ar for dysentery by putting pither a piece of bamboo 

or s piece of wiro or a glass tube up the rectum. 

This vms a painful oporation for those v/ho were fit. 

They would take out persons who 刃ere extremely ill 

or during of dysentery and would carry out this test, 

and this in bad cases definitely precipitated death 

by r^niSon of the pain .̂ .nd the fact of their being 

moved. Convalescents wpre forced to carry bamboos 

long distances in the r^in with bare feet, with the 

result that their feet '
r

?erp torn � n d resulting in 

ulcers, for whj.ch there xnere no facilities for treat-

ment , a n d rany of them died*....." 

Prosecution document nurabpr^d ^031-A, the 

affidavit of Major R.J. Campbnll, is offered for 

identification. 

CLERK CF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

Ko. 5031-A will receive exhibit No. 1570 for identific-

ation only. 

OlTiereupon, the document ab<?ve re-

ferred to was narked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1570 for identification.) 

LR. JUSTICE M t F I E L D : And the mrrked 

excprpts thereof produced in evidence. 
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THE PRESIDENT� Admitted on the usual terms. 

CL3RK OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts 

thprefunn, bearing the same document number, will 

rpceive exhibit No. 1570-A. 

( � p r e u p o n , tho document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

No. 1570-A and received in evidence.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANtFIELD: This affidavit states 

that the camp at Tamarkan was CIOSP to bridges which 

spanned a river and those were repeatedly bombed, 

Pprrnission to mark the carap as containing P/W wp.s 

refused, and in one raid 18 men were killed and huts 

set on fire. 

At Kcnburi Camp in J u n e , 1 9 4 5， a British 

officer, the Camp interpreter, was beaten into 

insensibility by Japanese officers. He was then put 

into a covered slit trench, 5 ft. by 2 ft. 6 ins. 

by 4 ft., which had six inches of water and mud in it 

and was infested with mosquitoes. The officer had 

only a pair of shorts. He was givpn water and onp 

ball of rice per day. Later he was taken back to the 

guard room where he was threatened with torture as a 

result of which he endeavoured to coinnrit suicide. 

Two months later ho was recovered by P/W 

doctors who said ho would have been dead in a few more 
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days. HP WNS insane, suffered from blackv/atrr fever 

^nd was terribly emaciated. He had not washed or 

shaved during the period and had not defecated for 

t̂ 'o months during the eighty days ho spent in the 

trench. 

Prosecution document numborpd 5。74, the 

affidavit of C.M.S. G. Knowlos, is now o f f e m d for 

identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No, 5074 will rpccive exhibit No. 1571 for identific-

ation onLy. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1571 for identification.) 

MR. JUtTICE MANSFIELD: And the marked 

exhibits therein produced in ovidpnee. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terns. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts 

thercfron
5
 bearing the sひne document number, will 

receive exhibit No. 1571-A. 

(
1?

/hereupon, the documnnt above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1571-A and received in evidence,) 

IVIR. JUSTICE M N S F I E L D : This affidavit relates 

to thp snvsgp beating of prisoners of war at Kanburi. 



13,081 

-"en were beaten with teak poles on all parts of the 

body until in some cases the men were broken and 

unrecognizable and two officers ?jere murdered. 

Prosecution document nurabered 5〇75， the 

affidavit of Sub-Lieutenant J.O. Caun, is tendered 

for identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No, ^075"�ill receive exhibit No. 1572 for identific-

ation onlv. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferrrd to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1572 for identification.) 

、 m , JUt-TICE MANSFIELD: ,.nd thp marked 

excerpts therpof now offered in rvid<=ncG. 

THE PREblDENT: Adnitted on the i.s”al terras. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: And the excerpts there-

from, bearing tho sane document niimber, will receive 

exhibit No. 1^72-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

�。•1572-A and received in evidence.) 

MR. JUSTICE FANSFIELD: This affidavit states 

that in July 194-3, at Kanburi the witness on
 v

ping 

told that some sick men had arrived there found them 

crawling about the 3 kilometre stretch separating the 
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railY7ay station fron the camp. One orderly had been 

sent with 170 nen suffering fron beri feeri, dysentery, 

tropical ulcers and cholera to this camp. It took 

five hours to find all those men. 

The Japanese adjutant of the camp said he 

would open a new hospital for them. He ordered some 

P/W to break down the fence which separated thr? camp 

fron that of a Japanese cavalry regiment which had 

left the day before. There were 20 empty huts in 

most of which there was animal dung and filth. The 

adjutant ordered the sick men to be moved hrre within 

an hour. 

It was two weeks before medical staff was 

gathrrod to look after th^ hospital. By this tine 

there wore over 1,500 patients and thf» daily death 

rate vns between seven and twelve. 

A nonth later, despite all efforts, dysentery 

patients were still lying on tho ground in a hut with-

out plat'forns. 

The hospital carae under the direct control 

of Japanese H.Q. An officer of the Japanese General 

Staff, P/W Conjraand visited the hospital three days 

after its grisly opening, and saw the disgraceful 

conditions in which the sick were living. 

25 
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The prosecution now tenders document 

No. 54-50.； being a synopsis of evidence. 

TEE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 54-50 will receive exhibit No. 1573. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1573 s.nd received in evidence.) 

� � J U S T I C E MANSFIELD: Prosecution document 

numbered � 1 2 8 , the affidavit of Major R . Crawford, 

is now offered for identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5128 will receive exhibit No. 1574- for identifi-

cation only. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred, to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1574 for identification only.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: The marked excerpts 

thereof being produced in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts 

therefrom bearing the same document number will receive 

exhibit No. 1574--A. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 
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No. 1574—A and received in evidence.) 

M R , JUSTICE MANSFIELD: This document 

states that in June 194-3, the witness was appointed 

officer commanding "K" Force, a unit of 230 

prisoner of war medical personnel designed to 

give medical assistance to coolies and prisoners 

of war employed on the construction of the Burma-

Siam Railway. 

�'he witness states that the journey to 

the working.sites involved for many gangs of 

coolies, marches of indescribable hardship. Con-

ditions in coolie working and hospital camps were 

disgraceful and a grave danger to the lives ^of 

those living therein. 

The witness further states that: 

"In these camps, at some periods, there 

were no or quit-.e inadequate sanitary arrangements, 

tie entire camp area being, consequently, heavily 

contaminated with feces. In practically no carap 

was a satisfactory water supply provided, the gen-

eral source being raw river water even with cholera 

prevalent. Sleeping accommodation was in many ‘, 

cases quite inadequate or of the most primitive kind, 

Tents were generally and huts frequently not weather 

proof; cooli.es often had to sleep on the ground. 



13,5 

-
 -一
•

 -
 I

 —
 

2

3

4
 5

 
6

7

8

9
 

2

H

1

2

u

1

4

1

5

1

6

n

2

s

2

0

^

^

2

2

2
 

Blankets were not provided, an occasional sack 

being issued as a substitute, and the clothing 

issue for coolies was at most a flimsy sarong. 

The food supplies to laborers wa^ frequently 'poor
1 

or 'bad' and quite below the level necessary for 

the maintenance of good health in individuals doing 

heavy manual labor. 

"The unsatisfactory conditions here de-

scribed were conducive to widespread disease of 

many kinds, the principal of wbich were dysentery, 

cholera, pneumonia, ulcers and deficiency diseases. 

Conditions hereinbefore described apply not only 

to male coolies but also to women and ehildren 

who
 T

7ere brought by the Japanese to work on the 

railway. 

"Arising from these gravely unsatisfactory 

living, feeding and working conditions sickness 

among laborers was over considerable periods enormous, 

and the indifference of the Japanese, their failure 

to take steps to combat sickness, their failure to 

supply suitable and adequate medical supplies con-

stitute criminal neglect. The Japanese were in the 

vast majority of cases entirely insensible to sick-

ness and hardships suffered by the laborers and their 

attitude indicated only a determination to complete 
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the railway at all costs with complete indifference 

to the number of deaths that might and were caused 

thereby. 

"Any efforts that 'K
f

 Medical R)i-ce might 

have made to help the laborers were virtually 

nullified in advance by the conditions unc'er which 

they had to work and for which the Japanese medical 

administration at all levels is directly responsible. 

"(a) The medical officer and his staff 

worked under the orders of an ignorant and ill-

trained Japanese medical NCO or private. 

"(b) The medical staff of 'K
r

 Force 

were, at the whim of the Japanese medical orderly, 

so restricted in their access to sick coolies that 

coordinated policy and continuous treatment were 

impossible. The medical force (including medical 

officers) was largely employed on manual labor, 

and medical officers were generally submitted to 

degrading and insulting treatment such as the per-

formance of manual labor, working in Japanese 

kitchens and as servants to Japanese. 

"(c) There was extreme inadequacy of 

medical equipment and supplies 

Examples of the incredible conditions in 

individual camps are given indicating the similarity 
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in the neglect of the basic humanities and In the 

evil treatment accorded to the men in all the 

camps mentioned. 

Prosecution document numbered 5136, the 

affidavit of Captain F . H . Wallace, I.M.S., is 

offered for identification., 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5136 will receive exhibit No. 1575 for identifi-

cation only. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1575 for identification only.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: The marked excerpts 

thereof being produced in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERIC OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts 

therefrom bearing the same document number will 

receive exhibit N o . 1 5 7 5 - A . 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No.1575-A and received in evidence.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: This affidavit 

confirms the conditions of coolie camps and the 

treatment of coolies set out in the preceding docu-

ment No. 5128. The present witness states that when 
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coolies suffering from cholera at Kinsayolc were 

thought by the Japanese medical NCO to be too ill 

to recover, they were pushed into a small lean-to 

shelter of attap and left to die. They were given 

no food or water. 

Coolies who were suffering seriously from 

cholera were often forced into common pit graves 

and buried alive. Protest from the coolies meant 

they were beaten down by Japanese orderlies. 

In July, 194*3, while giving anti-cholera 

inoculations to coolies, the witness savi them beaten 

and humiliated. Women were insulted, disinfectant 

was deliberately sprayed into the eyes of some 

coolies and the Japanese doctor himself beat them 

as they were being examined. The doctor explained 

to the witness that coolies were sub-human and not 

worthy of consideration. 

Prosecution document numbered 5256, being 

the affidavit of R , E . Peterson, is tendered for 

identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT; Prosecution's document 

No. 5 2 % will receive exhibit Mo. 1576 for identi-

fication only. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to v/as marked prosecution's exhibit 
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No. 1576 for identification only.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD; And the marked 

excerpts therein offered in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT; Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK, OF THE COURT: The marked excerpts 

therefrom bearing the same document number will 

receive exhibit No. 1576-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1576-A and received in evidence.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: This document 

states that: 

"In February 1944 I ”,as in a cooiie camp 

known as Chaymonga. On the 14th February 1944, I 

contacted a Japanese known to me as Aral (Storm 

Trooper) Hayashi KARMEATSU. We wore in a coolie 

camp *7hich was also a h®spital. 

"KARKEATSU proceeded to a coolie camp to 

interview coolies in the hospital. He had a hypo-

dermic syringe filled with a red unknown fluid。 He 

ordered the coolies down from their beds and asked 

them if there were any who could not walk, he told 

them they were going to be moved to a base hospital 

and. those who could not walk マould b.e carried. 

"Several staggered forward and were given 
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an injection of the fluid in the big vein in the 

elbow^ All who 珂ere inoculated died within a few 

minute^. When the remainder saw what was happening 

they said they could walk. When he had.finished he 

proco-sded to the dysentery hut. 

"He looked thrcrugh this hut. and talked 

away. Later he returned
-

 with a large tin of brovm 

su°ar in which'.was mixed, a deadly poison.. • He gave 

the coolies this to eat，- telling them it was good 

for t h e m . , 

"All who ate this poison died during the 

day." 

Prosecution document- numbered � 3 7 0，th e 

solemn affirmation of T!IAKIH SA, is now offered 

for identification. 

CLERK 0? THE COURT; Prosecution's document 

No. 5370 ill receive exhibit No. 1577 for identifi-

cation only. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1577 for identification only.) 

M R . JUSTICE MANSFIELD: And the excerpts 

marked therein, offered in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: The marked,excerpts 
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therefrom "bearing tho same document number will 

reccivG exhibit I、To. 1577-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to v/as marked prosecution's exhibit 

N o . 1 5 7 7 - A and received in evidence.) 

m . JUSTICE IIAWSFIELD: Tho document 

states that, in order to enable the Japanese author-

ities in Burma to obtain sufficient labor for the 

construction of the Burma-Siam H?il'7ay, they ro-

cruitod coolies. 

When the promises made by the Japanese 

to the laborers failed to materialize, they press-

ganged every available person into the labor force, 

since willing recruits were no longer to be found. 

The witness was appointed a suporintGndcnt 

of labor at Thanbyuzayat in December, 1942, to look 

after the interests of the coolies s.s far as pos-

sible . H o found that men were only released from 

the force T/hon they -7ero used up physically and no 

longer employable。 

"Living accommodation provided for 

laborers at the camps was insufficient and insanitary.： 

The area where the- work had to be done was very-

damp and laborors had to live in barracks if/hich 

could not keep out the wst. Barracks intended for 
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150 persons had to house as many as 300. Clothing 

shortage was acute5 when the clothes which the 

laborers brought from home began to fall into rags, 

gunny "bags were supplied to them to do duty both 

as wearing apparel and as blankets. No change of 

clothing v;as available to most of the laborers and 

none was provided by the Army. The result was 

that the clothing of almost all laborers was 

era诃ling with vermin and most of them v/ere suffering 

from a virulent type of skin clisease. Food supply 

was not sufficient; and the rice supplied was 

weevilly. 

"Water supply in this area was a carrier 

of malaria; but steps viere not taken to sterilize 

the water supply, except for a pretence at boiling 

the water for potable purposes. Medical supply 

consisted only of quinine and even this was not In 

sufficient quantities. Cholera broke out soon in 

the camps and the Japanese sought to combat the 

spread of this epidemic by cremating tho dead and 

very often persons whom they considered incurable. 

There were many authentic cases of live cremations. 

"Laborers uere treated as slaves� whips 

and sticks r/ore freely used on the laborers； and 

sickness ordinarily was no excuse. 
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"There was a total lack of system in 

allotment of laborers to tho various camps. As 

thG laborers arrived at Thanbyuzayat, they v/ere 

either driven up in lorries or taken marching 

through the cp.mp. Officers in charge of the camps 

w o u l d pick out persons tbey w a n t e d ; families became 

separated, the husband being retained in one camp 

and the wife sent to another camp, the parents 

going to one camp and the children to other camps.,. 

This lack of system and the haphazard manner in 

which the laborers wcro taken into different camps 

made it impossibles to trace the laborers later» 

Many eases had been known of families then separated 

never coining together again..." 

In March, 1943, the Moulmein Civil Admin-

istration was ordered to supply 7,000 laborers 
T

”ithin five ds5�s. Intensive press gang methods 

followed this order. Betiiecn April snd July, 19^-3, 

about 30,000 laborers were sent from Rangoon to 

Thanbyazayat to join "The Sweat Army." 

The Japanese prevented the Burmese labor 

officers from taking any active steps to help the 

coolies and woro not even allowed to maintain inde-

pGndent records. 

Prosecution document numbered 5371， the 
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statement of ！.-aung Aye Ko is tendorod for identi-

fication. 

CLERK OF THE CODET: Prosecution's document 

No. 5371 vjill receive exhibit No. 1578 for identi-

fication only. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to マ?.s marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1578 for identification only.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: And the excerpts 

therein offered in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admittod on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: The exccrpt there-

from bearing the sr.rae document number will receive 

exhibit No. 1578-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1578-A and roccived in evidence.) 

MR. JUSTICE MANSFIELD: This document confirms 

tho evidence of the last witness in prosecution 

document No. 5370. The present witness bocamc a 

labor officer in 1943. HG found the ill-clad 

laborers, fevered and hungry, living in disgusting 

conditions. A large number of men vcre malarial; 

many suffered from jungle sores exposing the bones 

pnd the vermin infesting tbc-m. Deaths at Kyontaw 
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Camp avoragod about ton a day. 

Cholera was rife at Kyonkaya. Tho dead 

and dying wcro piled together and, soaked in petrol, 

burned. Men v:ere beaten savagely r.nd on one occa-

sion the witness found the decomposing bodies of 

two racn who had been left to rot as a •warning to 

prisoners of war and laborers. 

In or about Octobcr, 1943, six prisoners 

of war cscaped from Kilo 126 Camp. On recapture 

they were beheaded. 

The witness states that ho saw so many 

floggings, beatings and deaths, that it finally 

left no impression on him. 

THE PRESIDENT; Wc will adjourn now until 

half-past nine tomorrow morning. 

(Whereupon at 1600, an adjournment 

was taken until Wednesday, Dcccmbcr 1 8 , 1 9 4 6 , 

at 0930.) 


